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The amalgamation of the Albany, Bunbury and Esperance Ports was 
implemented on 1 October 2014, to form Southern Ports Authority.

CORPORATE IdENTITY 

A distinctive logo has been developed to brand the Southern Ports Authority 
with a clean and modern corporate identity. The symbol is made up of  
three overlapping ship shapes, the number to symbolise the three Ports 
which operate under the Southern Ports Authority. The ship shapes indicate 
the wide range of vessels which trade across the three Ports – from smaller 
handysize or handymax (dark blue), through to Panamax, woodchip 
carriers, smaller tankers or container ships (cyan), up to Capesize ships 
(teal). The colours have been chosen to represent the hues of the Ports’ 
maritime environs, with overlapping tints suggestive of the translucent 
qualities of sea and sky.

Albany
In November, the Port of Albany participated in the commemorative 
centenary event of the sailing of the ANZAC fleet from Albany.  
The Port Open day held on Sunday 2 November attracted over 12,000 
visitors to view the six Navy vessels in Port.

Bunbury
The Port of Bunbury achieved record trade results of 16.26 million tonnes, 
representing a 4.2% increase on fY14 results (15.61 million tonnes).  
Total vessel numbers also increased from 414 (fY14) to 419 (fY15).

Esperance 
The Port of Esperance broke the 15 million tonnes per annum milestone 
for the first time with a new record trade volume of 15.06 million tonnes. 
Iron ore and grain exports contributed 78% and 14% respectively of  
this total. 

Image: photo taken by Bill Cutten ©

SIgNIfICANT hIghLIghTS
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COMMENT ABOUT REPORTINg dATA 
dUE TO AMALgAMATION

The Act, as amended by the Ports Legislation Amendment Bill 2013 
(assented on 20 May 2014) enabled the formation of Southern Ports 
Authority as at 1 October 2014. Under the legislation Bunbury Port Authority 
became the continuing authority, renamed to Southern Ports Authority.  
Albany Port Authority and Esperance Port Authority, as the merging 
authorities, ceased to exist as an authority within the Act, and merged  
with Southern Ports Authority on 1 October 2014.

The Southern Ports Authority is responsible for the management and 
control of the Port of Albany, Port of Bunbury and Port of Esperance.

The reporting data in this year’s annual report will be based on a 12 month 
reporting period for the continuing authority (1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015), 
and a nine month reporting period for the merging authorities (1 October 
2014 to 30 June 2015).

The 2014/15 Statement of Corporate Intent and the Strategic development 
Plan 2014/15 to 2018/19 of Albany Port Authority, Bunbury Port Authority 
and Esperance Port Authority were submitted to the Minister in the  
2013/14 period by the respective, and now retired, Port Authority Boards of 
Albany, Bunbury and Esperance. As such the Key Performance  
Indicators (KPI’s) provided in this Annual Report are reported as three 
individual operational Ports and against the KPI’s submitted by the previous 
individual Boards.

The financial data within this Annual Report, where compared to the 
previous financial period(s), is a comparison against the continuing 
authority, being the formerly named Bunbury Port Authority. No prior period 
financial comparisons are provided for the merged authorities of Port of 
Albany and the Port of Esperance.

The Notes to financial Statements p72 - p102 will provide further 
explanation of reported data as required.



5SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

OVERVIEW 06
Executive Summary  06

Corporate Overview 09
 
PERfORMANCE 12
Trade Results 12

Key Performance Indicators 20

Corporate & Community Relations 25

human Resources  28

Organisational Structure  33

Operations  34

Land Use Planning & Commercial  40

Port development & Projects  43
 
dIRECTORS’ REPORT 46
 
gOVERNANCE 58
Board of directors 58

Audit System & Processes 61

disclosures & Legal Compliance  63

fINANCIALS 68
financial Statements 68

Notes to financial Statements 72

CONTENTS



6 SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

OVERVIEW Executive Summary

ChAIRMAN OVERVIEW

following a Statewide review of Western Australian Ports, the State 
government announced the consolidation of several Western Australian 
Ports, including the Port Authorities of Albany, Bunbury and Esperance into 
a single new port authority. As a result Southern Ports Authority (Authority) 
commenced its activities on 1 October 2014.

The key outcome of the Ports review was the acknowledged need for greater 
capability, skills, resources and scale by all Ports to meet the increasingly 
complex demands of their Customers, local communities and increased 
State development. A substantial ‘step-up’ was required in all aspects of 
Ports operations.

The Authority has commenced down this path of significant transformation. 
Important changes for the Authority include a greater strategic focus at 
Board level; increased Customer and commercial focus; greater emphasis 
on best practice for safety, environment and administration; better 
Management communication; and improved long term planning  
and infrastructure development.

The Authority is also developing a more proactive and integrated approach 
to economic development and to facilitating trade within its region.  
In doing so it is seeking to work in conjunction with potential private sector 
participants. greater alignment between Port planning and State and 
regional transport, freight and infrastructure development is also being 
emphasised.

These new organisational directions and developments mean that  
every member of the new Authority is involved in and is contributing to  
this process.

I thank and congratulate all Employee members at every level for their 
readiness to embrace the new challenges and develop new opportunities  
for our organisation and for our Customers and communities.

We have made good progress to date and there is still much to do to achieve 
the full range of our corporate and strategic objectives.

I wish to thank my fellow directors for their significant commitment and 
contribution to the successful commencement of Southern Ports Authority.

I look forward to another year of substantial progress and development for 
the Authority’s Ports in 2015/16.

The Authority is 
also developing a 
more proactive and 
integrated approach 
to economic 
development and 
to facilitating trade 
within its region.

Roger hussey
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CEO REPORT 

having joined the Southern Ports Authority (Authority) in february 2015, 
I am pleased to report a very strong trade and financial result for the first 
year of the Authority. The three Ports achieved record trade volumes  
of almost 36 million tonnes; Port of Albany at 4.9 million tonnes; Port of 
Bunbury for the first time above 16 million tonnes and Port of Esperance  
for the first time above 15 million tonnes for the full 12 month period. 

In the face of declining commodity prices, four large trade developments 
linked to coal and iron ore have been delayed or put on hold across the three 
Ports. Therefore the Authority’s resources have been focused on improving 
existing trade, supporting smaller trade opportunities and continuous 
improvement projects. 

The Authority is highly diversified across minerals, forestry and agriculture. 
during the year, the Port of Bunbury started exporting grain for the first 
time since 1989. In the coming year, the Port of Esperance will commence 
exports of woodchips. The Authority has already put in place processes to 
leverage its trade diversity and sustain its growth, learning from each Port’s 
past experiences as we progress.

The financial results for 2014/15 are strong with a profit before income  
tax of $32.655 million.

The Authority will retain each Port’s connection to its region, its Customers 
and its operating environment. Community sponsorship, Community 
Consultation Committees, Port User forums and relationships with local 
Stakeholders continue to be delivered locally under the cohesive governance 
of a single Authority.

All maintenance and capital projects were reviewed in line with revised 
trade growth. To support the execution of the confirmed projects, the three 
Ports have started exchanging technical expertise on security, dredging, 
road networks and information technology.

While the safety results for the Ports of Albany and Bunbury are good  
with no Lost Time Injuries (LTI), I regret to report the Port of Esperance  
has had an increase in LTI, notably in soft tissue injuries. The Authority  
is currently addressing the rise in incidents through increased training  
and safety awareness.

Nicolas fertin

The Authority is 
highly diversified 
across minerals, 
forestry and 
agriculture.   
The three Ports 
achieved record 
trade volumes of 
almost 36 million 
tonnes.
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The Authority’s organisation structure will retain the three Ports unique 
trades and characteristics while developing new processes and skills  
across the Ports.

Customers across the three Ports have welcomed the investment the 
Authority is making in its commercial function. The renewal negotiations  
of existing contracts have strengthened relationships, focused on 
operational performance and allowed re-investment in maintenance  
and capital equipment. 

The initiation of the Authority’s consolidated financial reporting and 
forecasting and a new risk management framework allows timely decisions 
as well as more effective communication with State government.

In conclusion, I thank the Board for their guidance and counsel in the first 
steps towards the continued growth and performance of the Authority.  
I also thank my predecessors who handed over three Management teams 
who work diligently and efficiently.

Port of Albany ANZAC Centenary Open day, Berth 1, November 2014
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OVERVIEW Corporate Overview 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW 

Southern Ports Authority (Authority) is a government trading enterprise 
whose sole shareholder is the Western Australian State government.  
The Authority’s principal role is to facilitate trade through the commercial 
management of efficient, sustainable, safe and Customer-focused Ports  
and to return a dividend to the government of Western Australia.

Whilst the amalgamation of the Southern Ports aligns the overall strategic 
direction and management of the Authority, the Ports of Albany, Bunbury 
and Esperance continue to provide the trading hubs along the southern and 
south-west coast for a diverse range of commodities.

Administration offices were established in West Perth and Leschenault 
(Bunbury) with continued administrative support for the local Ports being 
operated from the existing Port offices located in their respective regions.

Both the Port of Albany and Port of Bunbury operate under a landlord model 
by leasing land to Port related industries and by providing access to Port 
infrastructure and facilities. Port services such as towage and stevedoring 
are outsourced to the private sector. The Port of Esperance operates under  
a model with a blend of landlord and in-house stevedoring.

The Port of Albany has four berths. Berths 1 and 2 provide facilities for 
general and bulk cargo and Berth 3 services the grain exports through  
bulk loading facilities. Berth 6 is a dolphin berth for woodchip exports. 

Port of Albany ANZAC Centenary 3 November 2014
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OVERVIEW Corporate Overview 

Port of Bunbury Berth 5 in front of WAPRES woodchip stockpile, 2015

The Port of Bunbury has seven berths divided between the Outer and 
Inner harbours. Berths 1 and 2 are located at the Outer harbour servicing 
methanol imports and general cargo. The Inner harbour comprises  
Berth 3 which provides for the export of woodchips and grain, and the  
multi-user Berths 5 and 8 are both utilised for multiple products including 
mineral sands, woodchips and copper concentrate amongst other products. 
Berths 4 and 6 are utilised for the export of alumina and import of caustic 
soda, which are proponent owned and operated. 

The Port of Esperance has three berths: Berth 1 is used for the export of 
grain; Berth 2 is utilised for general cargo including fertiliser, sulphur,  
fuel and nickel; and Berth 3 is a dolphin berth that services iron ore ships.

The Authority provides and maintains the shipping channels, navigation 
aids, security systems, seawalls and road infrastructure within the Port 
areas. As each Port maintains different operational models, other common 
services provided by the Authority include emergency response, property 
management, waste management, ship scheduling, berth allocation, 
security services, Marine Pilots and Marine Pilot transport.
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OVERVIEW Corporate Overview 

MISSION STATEMENT

The Board of directors, as the governing body of the Authority, has adopted 
the following corporate governance principles as the framework by which 
the Board carries out its duties and obligations on behalf of the government 
shareholder to enable the Authority to fulfil its mission, being:

“To facilitate trade and development by providing safe, sustainable, 
innovative and efficient Ports for our clients, employees and community.”

Objectives:
• facilitate trade in an efficient and commercial manner
• Earn a reasonable return on assets
• facilitate economic development in the region
• Respect the natural, social and marine environment

Core values:
• Efficiency
• Safety
• Professionalism
• Respect and Integrity
• Sustainability

Port of Esperance ship departing Port at dusk
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of ALBANY TRAdE RESULTS  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015 

This year saw a total of 172 ship visits, up 28% from the previous year. 
Approximately 97% of the Port’s tonnage consists of woodchips, grain 
(wheat, canola, barley and oats) and silica sand exports, while the import  
of petroleum products and fertiliser accounts for the remaining 3%.  
The Authority’s Port of Albany is a significant contributor to the great 
Southern regional economy, with close to $1.5 billion of products moving 
through the Port annually. 

In 2014/15 the Port of Albany achieved another record trade tonnage for 
the period being marginally less than 4.9 million tonnes (Mt) representing 
an increase of 7% from 2013/14. The increase is mainly attributed to a 16% 
increase in grain exports from 2.9 Mt in 2013/14 to 3.4 Mt in 2014/15. 

fertiliser imports were significantly stronger in 2014/15, with the tonnage 
almost doubling from 53,179 tonne in the prior year to 99,324 tonne in 
2014/15, while petroleum product imports were up by 9%. 

Silica sand exports were stronger in 2014/15 with an 18% increase. 
Woodchips, which represent the second largest export at 24% of total port 
throughput in 2014/15, were down 17% from the previous year, from 1.4Mt 
for the prior period to 1.2Mt for 2014/15.

Albany Port from fertiliser Vessel ‘Magpie SW’ April 2015
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of ALBANY 

IMPORTS

3 months 
01/07/14  

- 30/09/14

9 months 
01/10/14  

- 30/06/15
Total 
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

fERTILISER  12,798  86,526 99,324  53,179  83,760  45,863  63,676 

fISh  -  76 76  654  -   -   38 

gENERAL CARgO  -   -  -  -   230  -   502 

PETROLEUM  
PROdUCTS  13,388  37,723 51,111  53,359  37,422  54,957  50,591 

POTASh  -   -  -  -   -   6,515  -  

TOTAL IMPORTS  26,186  124,325 150,511  107,192  121,412  107,335  114,807 

EXPORTS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

BARLEY  292,312  671,342 963,654  1,077,848  665,190  535,690  193,334 

BIOMASS PELLETS  -   -  -  -   -   43,138  76,782 

CANOLA  -   411,479 411,479  517,150  369,491  300,736  196,998 

LUPINS  -   3,300 3,300  -   -   -   -  

OATS  39,038  76,634 115,672  19,146  48,622  44,650  1,050 

SILICA SANd  46,600  120,627 167,227  141,158  206,569  169,599  175,522 

WhEAT  424,974  1,466,046 1,891,020  1,300,827  1,598,463  881,473  928,520 

WOOdChIPS  193,189  971,898 1,165,087  1,398,051  1,090,886  1,373,491  1,382,398 

TOTAL EXPORTS  996,113 3,721,326 4,717,439 4,454,180 3,979,221 3,348,777 2,954,604 

fUEL OIL (BUNKERS)  -   7,968  7,968  814  -   -   45 

TOTAL TRADE 1,022,299 3,853,619 4,875,918 4,562,186 4,100,633 3,456,112 3,069,456 

SHIPPING

gROSS REgISTEREd 
TONNAgE

  
941,854 

  
4,407,752 

 
5,349,606

  
4,841,257 

  
4,249,580 

  
3,780,034 

  
3,827,738 

NUMBER OF VESSELS:

TRAdE VESSELS  29  111  140  133  130  115  105 

OThER VESSELS  2  30  32  11  14  13  20 

NUMBER OF VESSELS  31  141 172  144  144  128  125 
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of BUNBURY TRAdE RESULTS  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015 

Approximately 90% of the Port of Bunbury’s tonnage consists of alumina, 
woodchips, mineral sands, and grain exports while the import of caustic 
soda, petroleum products, mineral sands and fertilisers account for the 
remaining 10%.

In 2014/15, the Port of Bunbury achieved a record trade of over 16.3 Mt,  
an increase of over 4% from the previous record of 15.6 Mt set in 2013/14.

Exports of alumina continue to reach record throughput with a total of  
10.7 Mt, representing 66% of total Port trade. Other commodity exports such 
as woodchips (1.61 Mt), spodumene (0.5 Mt) and copper concentrate (0.26 
Mts) increased during the year. 

The Port imports caustic soda (1.4 Mt) which is required in the alumina 
refining process. Mineral sands, as both an import and export product, 
increased by 7% on last year and totalled 0.8 Mt.

Port of Bunbury heavy lift unload Berth 5 december 2014
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of BUNBURY 
IMPORTS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

CAUSTIC SOdA 1,397,784  1,306,665  1,287,545  1,187,668  1,194,894 

ChEMICAL fERTILIZERS 30,088  23,333  35,033  17,488  24,268 

COAL 56,164  31,776  14,210  22,585  10,502 

gENERAL 4,184  420  109  3,515  45,506 

METhANOL 11,776  10,497  11,174  7,893  13,538 

MINERAL SANdS 288,166  325,864  326,348  317,985  274,523 

PETROLEUM COKE 48,064  62,071  21,082  77,396  61,098 

POTASh -  4,983  -  -  - 

TIMBER 20,799  21,755  20,546  7,304  - 

VEgETABLE OIL -  -  -  1,972  4,442 

TOTAL IMPORTS 1,857,025  1,787,364  1,716,047  1,643,806  1,628,771 

EXPORTS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

ALUMINA 10,696,295 10,658,408 10,589,634  9,496,531  9,439,269 

COPPER CONCENTRATE 256,430  189,236  228,362  215,846  155,739 

gENERAL 26,122  27,821  20,051  33,972  19,108 

gRAIN 244,889  -  -  -  - 

IRON CONCENTRATE 182,110  318,550  254,168  193,654  20,126 

MINERAL SANdS 515,705  423,246  461,353  486,812  482,458 

PETROLEUM PROdUCTS -  -  2,794  3,921  - 

RECYCLEd OIL 26,718  27,388  23,670  19,365  10,691 

SILICA SANd 303,369  255,864  235,657  350,220  245,551 

SPOdUMENE 482,755  344,200  420,925  396,928  387,204 

TIMBER 64,558  67,154  8,597  42,567  85,974 

WOOdChIPS 1,606,760  1,506,607  1,370,648  1,389,988  1,522,675 

TOTAL EXPORTS 14,405,711 13,818,474 13,615,859 12,629,804 12,368,795 

fUEL OIL (BUNKERS) 60  -   69  60  70 

TOTAL TRADE 16,262,796 15,605,838 15,331,975 14,273,670 13,997,636 

SHIPPING

gROSS REgISTEREd TONNAgE 12,785,597 12,002,708 11,790,036 11,342,151 11,419,143 

NUMBER OF VESSELS:

TRAdE VESSELS 414  410  414  411  414 

OThER VESSELS 5  4  -   5  9 

NUMBER OF VESSELS 419  414  414  416  423 
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of ESPERANCE TRAdE RESULTS  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015 

Approximately 94% of the Port of Esperance’s tonnage consists of iron ore, 
grain and nickel exports while the import of sulphur, petroleum products 
and fertiliser accounts for the remaining 6%.

In 2014/15, the Authority’s Port of Esperance achieved another record 
tonnage of just over 15 Mt, an increase of 1% from the previous year. 

The export tonnages of iron ore increased by 4%, grain reduced by 2% 
and nickel hydroxide reduced by 22%. The tonnages of imported fertiliser 
increased by 31% and sulphur remained static.

Port of Esperance fuel discharge pipeline project - vessel undergoing measurements for Berth 1
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

PORT Of ESPERANCE 

IMPORTS

3 months 
01/07/14  

- 30/09/14

9 months 
01/10/14  

- 30/06/15
Total 
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

CONTAINER 
TONNES EMPTY  10,723  15,895 26,618  25,483  35,851  33,233  16,674 

fERTILIZERS  12,086  101,577 113,663  86,571  94,090  71,927  87,281 

MAgNESIA 
OXIdE  7,690  13,870 21,560  34,353  26,998  17,604  -  

PETROLEUM  76,402  201,570 277,972  292,135  308,559  350,814  309,997 

SULPhUR  95,431  278,775 374,206  381,761  367,591  294,494  -  

SUNdRY  5,886  9,821 15,707  8,721  7,982  239  11 

TOTAL  
IMPORTS

  
208,218 

 
 621,508 

 
829,726

 
 829,024 

 
 841,071 

 
 768,311 

 
 413,963 

EXPORTS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

COMMODITY

BARLEY  194,015  593,308 787,323  854,045  485,115  640,211  317,360 

CANOLA  -   313,804 313,804  374,577  363,828  220,486  295,669 

CONTAINER 
TONNES EMPTY  1,582  2,365 3,947  7,727  2,092  3,353  33 

gOLd PYRITE  17,172  41,511 58,683  22,824  -   -   -  

IRON ORE  3,075,066  8,698,934 11,774,000  11,288,529  11,045,649  8,904,585  8,807,994 

LUPINS  -   4,793 4,793  4,950  9,216  -   12,792 

NICKEL  33,764  67,673 101,437  92,653  216,422  299,987  290,647 

NICKEL  
hYdROXIdE

 
 51,101 

 
 67,149 

 
118,250

 
 152,602 

 
 168,597  82,409 

 
 -  

PEAS  -   -  -  -   14,161  32,817  36,268 

SCRAP METAL  -   -  -  10,147  -   -   -  

SUNdRY  84  134 218  462  680  128  -  

WhEAT  257,483  807,460 1,064,943  1,301,415  728,213  798,880  945,576 

TOTAL  
EXPORTS

 
3,630,267 

 
10,597,131 

 
14,227,398

 
14,109,931 

 
13,033,973 

 
10,982,856 

 
10,706,339 

TOTAL TRADE 3,838,485 11,218,639 15,057,124 14,938,955 13,875,044 11,751,167 11,120,302 

TEUs IN  5,127  7,770  12,897  12,502  16,290  14,210  6,255 

TEUs OUT  4,639  7,892  12,531  13,684  16,432  12,944  7,930 

TOTAL TEUs  9,766  15,662  25,428  26,186  32,722  27,154  14,185 

Table continued on next page >
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

< Table continued from previous page

3 months 
01/07/14  

- 30/09/14

9 months 
01/10/14  

- 30/06/15
Total 
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

SHIPPING

gROSS  
REgISTEREd 
TONNAgE

 
 

 1,835,965 

 
 

 7,704,862 

 
 

9,540,827

 
 

 9,835,814 

 
 

 9,106,096 

 
 

 8,138,887 

 
 

 7,571,504 

NUMBER OF VESSELS:

TRAdE  
VESSELS

  
47 

 
 139 

 
 186 

 
 197 

 
 192 

 
 204 

 
 181 

OThER  
VESSELS

 
 -  

 
 10 

 
 10 

 
 6 

 
 4 

 
 6 

 
 3 

NUMBER OF 
VESSELS  47  149 196  203 196  210 184

Port of Esperance Sulphur discharge Berth 2
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PERfORMANCE Trade Results

Southern Ports Authority 
Trade Percentage by Commodity

TRAdE PERCENTAgE  
BY COMMOdITY 

Trade percentage by commodity - SPA

1.3%

2.2%

1.3%

1.0%

3.9%

4.5%

32.5%

29.6%

16.0%

7.7%

Iron Ore [E]

Alumina [E]

Grain [E]

Woodchips [E]

Caustic Soda [I]

Sulphur [I]

Spodumene [E]

Mineral Sands [E + I]

Silica Sand [E]

Other [E + I]

Port of Albany 
Trade Percentage  
by Commodity

Port of Bunbury 
Trade Percentage  
by Commodity

Port of Esperance 
Trade Percentage  
by Commodity

Trade percentage by commodity - Albany

3.3%

69.4%

23.9%

3.4% 1.9%

Trade percentage by commodity - Bunbury

4.5%

65.8%

8.6%

4.9%

9.9%

1.5%

3.0%

Trade percentage by commodity - Esperance

4.9%

78.2%

14.4%

2.5%

I = Import

E = Export
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PERfORMANCE Key Performance Indicators

fINANCIAL ANd NON-fINANCIAL KEY PERfORMANCE TARgETS

The financial and non financial key performance targets are detailed as per the Statement of Corporate  
Intent (SCI). As the 2014/15 SCIs for Albany, Bunbury and Esperance were approved by State government  
prior to the amalgamation each Port maintained their own set of key performance targets during the  
financial year. The status of the Authority’s performance during the reporting period towards achieving  
the financial and non-financial targets are summarised below.

PORT Of ALBANY

Actual Actual Target

Performance Target 2014

1 July 
2014 - 30 
Sep 2014

1 Oct 
2014 - 30 
Jun 2015

Total 
2015

SCI  
2015

Operations

Diversification of Trade (%)

grain 64% 74% 68% 70% 61%

Woodchips 31% 19% 25% 24% 31%

Other 5% 7% 7% 7% 8%

Average Turn Around Time (Hours) 134 218 96 122 131

Berth Occupancy Rate

Berth 3 62% 67% 65% 66% 53%

Berth 6 23% 12% 25% 22% 18%

Commentary:
Increased grain shipments resulted in higher occupancy at Berth 3 (grain berth) and increased diversification 
variances.  The quicker turnaround time of the grain vessels has resulted in better average turn around times  
for the year.

Financial

Total Charges per Tonne $2.64 $2.64 $2.68 $2.68 $2.55

Total Expenditure per Tonne $1.67 $1.94 $2.00 $1.99 $2.44

Net Profit Ratio 52% 47% 37% 39% 26%

Rate of Return (Deprival) 10.8% 9.0% 7.0% 9.3% 6.0%

Debt Ratio 6% 10% 8% 8% 8%

Commentary: 
The Maintenance dredging costs have contributed to a higher cost per tonne from 1 October 2014 and affected the 
overall net profit ratio.  however the record grain harvest has contributed to the better than target rate of return 
and net profit ratio exceeding target.
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< KPI table continued from previous page

Actual Actual Target

Performance Target 2014

1 July 
2014 - 30 
Sep 2014

1 Oct 
2014 - 30 
Jun 2015

Total 
2015

SCI  
2015

Investment

Land Availability 33% 32% 29% 29% 33%

Commentary: 
Two new leases commenced post 1 October 2014.

Environment

Incident Rate 0 0 0 0 0

Personnel

LTI Rate (Port Staff) 0 0 0 0 0

Community

Number of Complaints 0 0 0 0 0
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PORT Of BUNBURY

Actual Actual Target

Performance Target 2014
Total 
2015

SCI  
2015

Major Projects

Ensure stakeholder consultation in port planning and development 100% 100% 100%

Strategic Public Environmental Review (SPER) progressed inline  
with Board approved timeline

YES YES YES

Business case submitted and funding approval received for Preston River 
Realignment construction phase

NO NO (1) YES

Buffer definition Study progressed in line with SPER Board  
approved timeline

YES YES YES

Commentary:
(1) A project concept proposal was considered by the South West development Commission (SWdC) Board for  
submission to the Southern Investment fund.  Proposal was not approved at this time by the SWdC Board. 

Financial & Economic Indicators

Achieve Long Term hurdle Rate of Return 10.2% 10.2% 9.9%

gross Cargo Revenue Per Tonne $0.63 $0.70 $0.73

gross Ship Revenue Per Ship $36,283 $39,949 $36,036

Aggregated Operating Port Authority Cost Per Cargo Tonne $1.42 $1.63 $1.65

Outcome Based Service Indicators

Operating Cash flow Per Employee $422,190 $411,847 $249,098

Operating Cost Per Employee $633,515 $829,134 $846,485

Berth Utilisation Berths 1 & 2 11.3% 6.3% 12.7%

Berth Utilisation Berth 3 19.9% 36.0% 29.7%

Berth Utilisation Berth 5 65.1% 54.5% 68.9%

Berth Utilisation Berth 8 49.3% 52.2% 58.4%

Berth Utilisation Berths 4 & 6 67.8% 72.4% 83.0%

Total Berth Utilisation 42.0% 42.6% 49.8%

Average Ship Turnaround Time (hours) Bulk 58.5 59.2 61.4

Cargo Tonnes Per Total Vessel hour (Average all Berths) Bulk 651 646 572

Stronger Focus on the Regions

Acknowledge the Port serves the regional community of the South West 100% 100% 100%

Recognise the Port's impact is focussed on the Bunbury area and in  
particular adjacent residential locations 100% 100% 100%
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< KPI table continued from previous page

Actual Actual Target

Performance Target 2014 Total 2015
SCI  

2015

Social & Environmental Indicators

Maintain PM10 dust levels below National 
Environmental Protection Measure standard 
of 50mg/m3

<50 <50 <50

Achieve year on year reduction in  
substantiated community complaints 

4 10 (2) 15

The harbour sediments remain suitable  
for unconfined sea dumping as defined  
in 'National Assessment guidelines for  
dredging' (NAgd2009)

The harbour  
sediments remain 

suitable for  
unconfined sea 

dumping 

The harbour  
sediments remain 

suitable for  
unconfined sea 

dumping

The harbour  
sediments remain 

suitable for  
unconfined sea 

dumping

Maintain ISO 14001 accreditation ISO 14001  
maintained 

ISO 14001  
maintained

ISO 14001  
maintained

Target zero Lost Time Injuries 0 0 0

Annual review of Business Continuity Plan YES NO (3) YES

hold Port Community Liaison Committee 
meetings a minimum of 6 times per financial 
year and ensure minutes distributed and  
actions completed 83% 100% 100%

Commentary: 
(2) Rise in community complaints compared to 2014 due to increased activity at Berth 5.
(3) The last full review of Port Business Continuity Plan was in late 2013.
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PORT Of ESPERANCE

Actual Actual Target

Performance Target 2014

1 July 
2014 - 30 
Sep 2014

1 Oct 
2014 - 30 
Jun 2015

Total 
2015

SCI  
2015

Operations

Diversification of Trade (%)

Iron Ore 80% 80% 77% 78% 80%

grain 12% 12% 15% 14% 12%

Nickel 3% 3% 2% 2% 3%

Petroleum 3% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Sulphur 2% 2% 3% 3% 2%

Other 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

Average Turn Around Time (Hours) 66 63 62 62 77

Berth Occupancy Rate

No. 1 Berth 45% 30% 38% 36% 35%

No. 2 Berth 50% 49% 43% 44% 67%

No. 3 Berth 55% 56% 53% 54% 61%

Commentary:
The positive results for Operations is attributed to the improved iron ore outloading rates and record tonnes 
across all berths with reduced overall berth occupancy due to operational improvements and economies of scale.

Financial

Total Revenue per Tonne $5.53 $5.44 $5.66 $5.60 $5.37

Total Expenditure per Tonne $5.07 $4.80 $4.50 $4.58 $5.00

Rate of Return (Deprival) 5.10% n/a n/a 7.80% 3.30%

Debt Ratio 71% 68% 62% N/A 73%

Commentary:
The financial results are driven by improved contractual terms, asset management strategies and debt paydown 
together with increased profitability.  

The Rate of Return (deprival) calculation includes the value of leased assets for 2014/15.
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STAKEhOLdERS

The Authority values its business relationship with all Stakeholders, 
including key federal, State and Local government agencies,  
Port Customers, service providers, suppliers, industry bodies and  
the local communities of the South-West, great Southern and  
goldfields-Esperance regions of Western Australia. The opening of  
an office in West Perth in addition to the existing Ports’ Offices allows more 
efficient communication between the Authority and its Stakeholders.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

Regional not-for-profit organisations continue to be supported by the 
Authority through the Authority’s Sponsorship Program. A budget allocation 
is provided during the year to support local projects with a marine-based 
focus and also projects which focus on community events, community 
infrastructure, environment, indigenous relations and education.  
The Authority will continue to allocate separate funding and support to  
each of the three regions.

Projects and events supported during the year include Sail Albany 2015, 
ANZAC Centenary Commemorative Concert, Stage 3 South West Marine 
dolphin Research Project, Newton Moore Senior high School Engineering 
Program Scholarship, fishers and Loaves Seafood forum and 54th flying 
fifteen State Championships.

Port of Albany ANZAC Centenary Navy vessels in Port, November 2014
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A highlight of the year was the visit of six naval ships to the Port of Albany  
in early November representing three different countries, Australia,  
New Zealand and Japan, to commemorate the centenary of the sailing of the 
ANZAC fleet from Albany in 1914. The Port of Albany closed to commercial 
shipping for three days to facilitate this once in 100 year event. A Port Open 
day saw more than 12,000 visitors visit the ships.

To commemorate the centenary of the departure in October/November  
1914 of troops from Albany to the first World War a wall-mounted screen 
was commissioned by the Authority and installed on the wall of the  
Port’s shed on the major access road to the Port of Albany area.

during the year 21 cruise vessels visited the Ports of Albany and Esperance. 
The cruise vessels and their passengers provide significant economic input 
into the local towns and surrounding tourist regions during their visits.

Port of Albany Cruise Ship Astor visit december 2014
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PORT USERS

Integral to the success of the Authority are the Customers and Port Users 
who choose the Authority’s Ports as their gateway to trade products which 
build and support the local region.

The Authority continues to provide forums for Port Users, Contractors  
and Customers to liaise with the Management team, by either  
one-on-one meetings or group Port User meetings held on a regular 
schedule throughout the year. Each Port will continue to organise local  
Port User forums to improve the performance of each Port. 

Refer Commercial for further details on new Customers and trade 
opportunities within the Authority.

COMMUNITY CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEES

As legislated in the Act, Community Consultative Committees have been 
established at each Port and are governed by the Board through the means  
of a Charter. The role of the Community Consultative Committee is  
to promote the flow of information and communication with the general  
public and to provide a forum in which feedback from the Community  
can be received by the Authority via the Committee members.  
An independent Chairman is appointed to each Committee by the 
Committee and endorsed by the Board. directors may attend meetings  
from time to time. The minutes of Committee meetings are available on  
the Authority’s website www.southernports.com.au.

COMPLAINTS MANAgEMENT

feedback from the Community, including Port Users, allows the Authority  
to review its operations and how potential impacts can be better managed 
or systems maintained to minimise future recurrences.

There were 12 complaints relating to the Authority’s operations during 
the reporting year, six of which were as a result of noise and dust from 
Port operations. The complaints were resolved through liaison with the 
Complainant and/or relevant Port User to efficiently resolve the matter and 
mitigate potential future impacts on the local Community.

http://www.southernports.com.au
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OCCUPATIONAL SAfETY ANd hEALTh MANAgEMENT

The Authority is committed to maintaining a high standard of occupational 
safety, health and injury management throughout all of the Authority’s 
working sites. The health and Safety Policy was approved by the Board on 
25 September 2014.

Each Port site provides an opportunity for Employees to attend regular 
meetings with Management to discuss occupational safety and health 
issues and to allow Employees to participate in improving the system and  
to raise any safety or health concerns.

The Authority is committed to assisting Employees who are injured at work  
or who suffer a work related illness to return to work as soon as 
appropriate, consistent with the Authority’s Injury Management Policy  
and Management Plan and in accordance with the Workers Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981.

An Employee Assistance Program is provided to Employees to assist 
Employees to confidentially resolve work and personal issues that may 
affect their wellbeing, safety, performance and productivity.

As a landholder with a large number of potential mosquito breeding sites, 
the Authority has a legislative obligation under the Western Australian 
health Act 1911 and the City of Bunbury health Local Laws 2001 to ensure 
premises are kept as free as possible from mosquito breeding sites.  
A mosquito monitoring and baiting program on Authority owned Port 
of Bunbury land was provided by the City of Bunbury during the year to 
improve the amenity and reduce the risk of mosquito-borne disease for 
Employees and the City of Bunbury residents. The baits used are larvae 
specific and cause no harm to any other aquatic animal or plant life,  
in particular frogs.

At the Port of Esperance the INX InControl systems continue to record, 
report and monitor incidents, injuries, hazards, risks, audits and inspections 
on site. The 2014/15 financial year is the first full financial year of data since 
the implementation of the project. INX InTuition was added at the end of  
the 2014/15 period and manages the training matrix as well as producing 
the training needs analysis based on the requirements of the job role.  
INX Learning Management System will be implemented and rolled out 
during 2015/16.

Continued strong commitment by all Employees at the Port of Albany to 
maintaining and improving occupational safety and health management  
has resulted in the Lost Time Injury free period standing at 3193 days as  
at 30 June 2015.
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LOST TIME INJURY/dISEASE INCIdENCE RATE STATISTICS

Port of Albany
Report period 1 October 2014 to 30 June 2015

Measure Result 2012/13 Result 2014/15

WA State 
Government 

Target
Comment On 
2014/15 Year

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Achieved

Lost time injury or disease  
incidence rate 

0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of LTI/d / full time equivalent 
employees x 100

0 0 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years 

Achieved

Lost time injury severity rate 0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of severe injuries (60 days or 
more lost) / No. of LTI/d x 100

0 0 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years

Achieved

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 13 weeks

Not applicable Not applicable Actual result to 
be stated

No LTI’s  
Recorded

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 26 weeks 

Not applicable Not applicable Actual greater 
than or equal to 

80%

No LTI’s  
Recorded

Percentage of managers and  
supervisors trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury  
management responsibilities.

100% 100% greater than or 
equal to 80%

Achieved
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Port of Bunbury
Report period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015

Measure Result 2012/13 Result 2014/15

WA State 
Government 

Target
Comment On 
2014/15 Year

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Achieved

Lost time injury or disease  
incidence rate 

0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of LTI/d / full time equivalent 
employees x 100

0 0 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years 

Achieved

Lost time injury severity rate 0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of severe injuries (60 days or 
more lost) / No. of LTI/d x 100

0 0 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years

Achieved

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 13 weeks

Not applicable Not applicable Actual result to 
be stated

No LTI’s  
Recorded

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 26 weeks 

Not applicable Not applicable Actual greater 
than or equal to 

80%

No LTI’s  
Recorded

Percentage of managers and  
supervisors trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury  
management responsibilities.

75% 80% greater than or 
equal to 80%

Achieved
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Port of Esperance
Report Period 1 October 2014 to 30 June 2015

Measure Result 2012/13 Result 2014/15

WA State 
Government 

Target
Comment On 
2014/15 Year

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Achieved

Lost time injury or disease  
incidence rate 

0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of LTI/d / full time equivalent 
employees x 100

3.52% 3.85% 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years 

6 LTI/d  
injuries for the 

period 1/10/14 – 
30/6/15

Lost time injury severity rate 0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000

No. of severe injuries (60 days or 
more lost) / No. of LTI/d x 100

0.00 16.67% 0 or 10%  
reduction on 

previous 3 years

1 LTI/d with  
actual or 

greater than 60 
days or more 

lost from work.

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 13 weeks

100% 87.5% Actual result to 
be stated

1 employee did 
not return to 

work within 13 
weeks.

Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work within 26 weeks 

100% 100% Actual greater 
than or equal to 

80%

Achieved

Percentage of managers and  
supervisors trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury  
management responsibilities.

- 47% greater than or 
equal to 80%

2014/15  
- Not achieved

2012/13  
- Insufficient 
data available
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RETENTION/RECRUITMENT

Employee retention rates have remained high during the reporting  
period with minimal resignations. Recruitment of Employees is in line  
with the organisation’s structure and is guided by the Public Sector 
Commissioner standards.

The Authority is an inclusive and non-discriminatory Employer which 
embraces diversity irrespective of race, age, sex, marital status, pregnancy, 
religious or political conviction, impairment, family responsibility or family 
status, gender history or orientation.

Enterprise Agreements successfully negotiated during the year include:
•  The Southern Ports Authority, Port of Esperance/Maritime Union of 

Australia (MUA) Enterprise Agreement 2014-2017
•  The Southern Ports Authority, Port of Bunbury Marine Pilot Agreement 

2014-2018
•  The Southern Ports Authority, Port of Bunbury Administration  

& Maintenance Enterprise Agreement 2015-2017

TRAININg

The Authority is proactive in encouraging and assisting Employees in 
undertaking professional development, training and further education. 
during the 2014/15 financial year, Employees trained in areas such as: 
finance; the environment; health and safety; coast and marine structures; 
and maritime studies.

The three Ports have been modelled on the fremantle Marine Simulation 
centre allowing Pilots to be trained in a range of emergency situations that 
cannot be reproduced in real life without excessive risk to the Port. 

Emergency Response preparedness has been enhanced at the Port of 
Esperance with whole of Port exercises undertaken during the year which 
tested the Australasian Inter-Service Incident Management System (AIIMS) 
method. AIIMS is the nationally recognised system of incident management 
for the nation’s emergency service agencies. The system is typically  
used to manage bushfires and other large emergencies such as floods, 
storms and cyclones and lends itself to any emergency in a Port including 
oil spill responses.
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ENgINEERINg & ASSET MAINTENANCE

To maintain the Authority’s asset investments and provide ongoing  
access to Port infrastructure for our Customers, the following  
operational projects and maintenance were undertaken during the  
reporting period. details of capital expenditure projects are included  
under Port development & Projects of this Annual Report.

At the Port of Albany the restoration work to the concrete piles on  
Berths 1 and 2 is ongoing. The current focus is to restore piles in the 
existing “no load” area at the western end at the rear of Berth 2.  
This work can be undertaken without any restrictions on the current berth 
operations. Previous restoration work has removed the “no load” zones 
along the front sections of both berths which are the critical working  
areas on the berths and was a limiting factor to berth operations. 

The replacement of the old timber fendering on Berths 1 and 2 is ongoing 
with the current work area being in the middle of Berth 1. Of the 390m of 
timber fendering on Berths 1 and 2, approximately 300m has been replaced 
with new heavy section timbers.

The refurbishment work on the 1994 model 12T Mobile Crane was 
completed by local Albany Contractors under the supervision of a Certified 
Engineer. All components have been repaired, refurbished or renewed 
wherever possible and then tested to ensure the crane is fully functional. 
The refurbishment resulted in an “as new” certificate which can reset its 
functional life to 25 years and avoided the large cost of replacing the crane. 

Planning work to develop a Pipeline Management System and a fire  
Safety Statement commenced due to developments in the fuel import 
sector, changes to the regulatory regime for dangerous goods in Ports  
and assessment of existing fire-fighting capability at the Port of Albany’s 
fuel berth.

The design and engineering works for repairs to the dolphin structures  
at Port of Bunbury’s Berth 3 commenced in June 2014 with re-anchoring  
to three western dolphins being completed in december 2014.  
due to complications with ground conditions, securing the remaining 
berthing dolphin and mooring dolphin had to be carried out using 
alternative designs and works will be complete by late 2015.
 
following exposure of the buried sill beam and piles whilst undertaking 
the apron repairs to the Port of Bunbury’s Berth 8, it was identified some 
beams were overstressed at the support piles and all piles were in need 
of reinforcement. The most urgent repairs are currently being undertaken 
to the western end of the berth, with completion expected late July 2015. 

Installing anchors to Port of Bunbury  
Berth 3 dolphins
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The less critical remaining repairs will be carried out during planned shut 
downs over the next two years.

The ground directly behind the Port of Bunbury Berth 8 concrete deck has 
subsided due to erosion caused by the sea action below the berth. The work 
is well under way and is being undertaken during the quarterly scheduled 
shut down periods which is expected to be completed in early 2016. 

In April 2015, specialist fire Engineering Consultants were engaged to 
conduct a review of the fire hydrant system at the Port of Esperance.  
The study was conducted in accordance with the Risk Management 
Standard AS4360-2004 and produced a number of recommendations to 
improve firefighting capability across the Port. A plan has been developed 
to address the recommendations in a staged approach, starting with the 
changes required in 2015/16 and then over the coming years progressively 
working toward full compliance with AS 2419.1-2005 fire hydrant 
Installations – System design, Installation and Commissioning.

during the year, the Port of Esperance iron ore product handling circuit  
was shut down for major corrosion and structural repairs. This project  
was the first major maintenance intervention since installation in 2002.  
No delays occurred and the repairs were completed without incident 
allowing record shipments for the year to be achieved.

Approximately 20 metres of the seaward end of the Tanker Jetty at the Port 
of Esperance remained an isolated and dilapidated structure colloquially 
known as the Jetty Island. 

Storm events and heavy swell caused the 80 year old structure to start 
breaking up, leading to timber decking falling into the water creating  
a navigational hazard to small water craft and people and consequently  
the Authority resolved to remove the above-water timber structures.

The Jetty Island was home to approximately 30 black-faced cormorants. 
In planning for this project the Authority consulted with wildlife experts. 
Through this consultation the Port of Esperance agreed to relocate the 
existing colony of Black-faced Cormorants close to town by building a 
nesting site on the Port’s own breakwater with permitted access, which 
allows expansion of local research into the Black-faced Cormorants.

during the consultation process with the wider community, the Authority 
decided to preserve the existing pile group, so far as practicable, as a 
marine habitat for recreational divers. 

demolition of the Port of Esperance 
Tanker Jetty Island



36 SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

PERfORMANCE Operations

INfORMATION & COMMUNICATION TEChNOLOgY

The Authority’s Employees worked with the selected telecommunications 
provider to install a Virtual Private Network (VPN) and government 
Wideband Internet Protocol (gWIP) to the Administration offices at the  
Ports and West Perth. fibre optic link was installed to replace the old 
copper link at some of the Administration offices. The fibre bandwidth  
is sufficient to meet the current and future demands of the VPN.

Video conferencing facilities were also installed which enables face-to-face 
meetings across the region without the need for extended travel.

ENVIRONMENT

As a requirement of the amalgamation process, all environmental  
licences, permits and approvals were transitioned from the former 
Authorities to the Southern Ports Authority as of 1 October 2014 to  
ensure continued compliance.

A number of marine monitoring programs were undertaken at the  
Ports during the reporting period. The Authority, in conjunction with  
the department of fisheries, commenced at the Port of Albany an 
Introduced Marine Species Sentinel Programme as a result of feedback 
from the Community having concerns with the Port operations on the 
marine environment. The Port of Bunbury have continued the biennial 
Invasive Marine Species survey carried out at the Port and the  
adjacent marine waters of Koombana Bay and the dredge spoil ground.  
No “species of concern” were identified as part of the survey.  
Additional estuarine and riverine monitoring is conducted on a six  
monthly basis at the Port of Bunbury.

Employees at the Port of Albany have undertaken a pilot study on the fish 
assemblages among the Port infrastructure within Princess Royal harbour. 
during the study data was collected to quantify the species richness and 
abundance in the Port. Whilst the final results are not yet available, early 
interpretations indicate the Port infrastructure may play a role as a refuge, 
or protected area for local fish stocks. 

As a condition of the Southdown Joint Venture Project the Port of Albany 
was required to transplant 1 hectare of seagrass within Princess Royal 
harbour, which took place in 2012. The year 3 condition monitoring was 
undertaken in March 2015 with results indicating the transplanted seagrass 
have maintained an average survival rate of 78% to date. 

Port of Esperance IT Systems 
Administrator, Matthew Meng
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The Port of Bunbury ISO 14001:2004 Certification for the Environmental 
Management System was subject to the second annual surveillance 
audit in January 2015 and continued compliance with the ISO standard 
was confirmed.  Environmental performance is reported to the Board 
of directors monthly and identified environmental risks recorded in the 
Authority’s Risk Registers and actioned through Risk Treatment Action 
Plans to mitigate or eliminate risk. 

The technical investigations for the Strategic Public Environmental Review 
(SPER) of the Bunbury Port Inner harbour Structure Plan were completed 
in June 2015. The writing of the SPER document was well underway at the 
end of the year and it is expected to be submitted to the Environmental 
Protection Authority during the first quarter of the 2015/16 year.
 
The SPER process has been conducted concurrently with the Preston 
River Engineering design Project, which is one of the key proposals in the 
SPER to ensure that the design of the new river channel meets acceptable 
environmental objectives. Refer Port development & Projects for further 
details regarding the Preston River design project.

A Buffer definition Study (BdS) is also being undertaken concurrently with 
the SPER. This study has now gained momentum with the completion of the 
SPER technical investigations for future potential noise and dust emissions. 
The BdS will assist in setting appropriate future planning controls for areas 
adjacent to the Port of Bunbury’s Reserve to ensure the interests of both the 
Port and the Community are recognised and protected. 

To move beyond just achieving environmental compliance, the Authority’s 
Port of Esperance continues to improve its environmental management 
system including controls on emissions. Most recently the Port of 
Esperance has been trialling the use of a foaming system to reduce  
iron ore dust. 

The foaming system was trialled from december 2014 through to April 
2015 and is designed to be sprayed onto the iron ore as it is falling from 
one conveyor belt to another to optimise mixing. By the end of the trial 
operational Employees witnessed an appreciable reduction in dust when  
the treated product was being conveyed. 

The trial will be extended for a second summer to objectively measure dust 
differences between the treated and untreated iron ore. Should the trial 
prove successful, control of the system will be automated using a moisture 
meter in the iron ore in-loading circuit system. 

Port of Esperance trial foaming 
system being sprayed on iron ore, 
december 2015



38 SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

PERfORMANCE Operations

MARINE SERVICES

Maintenance dredging works were completed in the financial year at 
each of the Authority’s Ports. These works are carried out to remove tidal 
delays, maximise available depths and facilitate vessels to load to their 
maximum cargo, therefore maximising efficiency for our Clients. dredging 
was conducted in accordance with State and Commonwealth regulations 
and permits and without any environmental incidents. The Port of Albany 
removed a total of 73,000 cubic metres of sand in their first comprehensive 
dredge program in the last 30 years. The annual maintenance dredge at the 
Port of Bunbury resulted in 120,000 cubic metres of material being removed 
from the channel. Periodic dredging was also conducted at the Port of 
Esperance prior to the amalgamation with approximately 17,000 cubic 
metres of sediment being removed from the three berthing basins. 

during the year a long wave penetration study was completed at the Port  
of Esperance. This has allowed accurate forecasting of significant wave 
events in the Port with a high level of accuracy in the predicting of ship’s 
mooring line partings. further evaluation is on-going in order to implement 
real time monitoring of available depths for efficiencies in maximising  
ship loading opportunities.

STEVEdORINg

The Port of Albany and Port of Bunbury operate on the landlord model and 
do not directly employ stevedore labour. Stevedoring companies operate 
under licence at the Albany and Bunbury Port and employ local labour.

The Port of Esperance’s Operations department provides a stevedoring 
service with up to 70 operational Employees, who are trained and  
multi-skilled across various facets of the stevedoring trade and servicing 
our Customers’ needs. Operational tasks undertaken include pilot and 
launch vessel operation, train unloading, sulphur truck out loading, 
container receival and ditch, mooring services, vessel planning and some 
maintenance tasks.

during 2014/15 handling rates for sulphur, iron ore and containerised 
products improved on the previous year as a result of the Authority’s 
continuous improvement program for safety, operational efficiencies,  
cost control and quality.

Port of Bunbury Unloading of dump 
trucks Berth 5
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Sulphur discharge rates have improved by 54% over the past two years.  
The average iron ore ship loading rates have improved by 6% during the 
year, and 10% over the past two years. Our Operations team have worked 
with our Client to improve train unloading performance, including individual 
wagon cycle time. With firm KPI’s developed in collaboration with our 
Customers, the Authority will continue to work on improvements to iron  
ore vessel loading rates to complement train unloading performance.

during the year gross container exchange rates improved by 22%, with  
a 42% improvement over the past two years. As with sulphur operations, 
increased reliability of the container crane and the improved flexible labour 
allocations have assisted with this achievement. Efficiency improvements 
have also been assisted by better traffic management planning, building  
a second truck crossing over the train line, individual operator development 
and training. 

The introduction of the “rotabox” system at the Port of Bunbury with 
lidded containers for the loading of bulk mineral products has significantly 
improved housekeeping standards by reducing dust emissions and spillage. 
The rotaboxes are manoeuvred by either the newly licenced mobile harbour 
cranes or by ship’s gear. In addition, the use of modern mobile hoppers 
discharging directly into trucks has now done away with the previous 
method of discharging onto the berth surface and transferring product onto 
trucks with front end loaders with the associated risk of product escaping  
into the environment. 

SECURITY

The Authority’s Port Security Plans were updated for 1 October 2014 to meet 
the requirements of the Office of Transport Security (OTS) when the Port 
Authorities merged. An external audit of the new plan was carried out by 
OTS with some minor alterations required.

The Authority continues to provide Maritime Security Identification Cards 
(MSIC) to Port Users in line with the requirements of the Southern Ports 
Authority MSIC Issuing Body Plan.



40 SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

PERfORMANCE Land Use Planning & Commercial

Enquiries related to current and new trade and Port land use are received 
on a regular basis by the Authority and as such the Authority will continue 
to investigate all options within the Ports regions. Proposed future projects 
which add value to infrastructure and align with the Authority’s principles  
to facilitate trade are fully considered on a case-by-case basis.

fUTURE LANd USE

discussions held regarding proposed new projects and trade were consistent 
with the approved land use strategy documents. The Albany Port Land 
Use Plan (June 2010) and the Bunbury Port Inner harbour Structure Plan 
(September 2009) (IhSP) were not amended during the reporting period.

COMMERCIAL

Ongoing and new commercial agreements negotiated during the year 
include:

Land within the Authority’s Port of Albany has been leased to a grain export 
Customer who has upgraded the previous biomass pellets storage facility 
and the Customer has substantially completed its development of storage 
and handling facilities. The Customer has yet to facilitate modifications to 
the Berth 6 ship loader and berthing facilities before exports of grain can 
commence in 2015/16.

Port of Bunbury Woodchip Stockpile Berth 3
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The Authority’s Port of Bunbury welcomed back grain after a 28 year 
absence, exporting the first shipment of 18,393 tonnes in July 2014. for the 
2014/15 year 244,889 tonnes was exported from the new Customer owned 
facility and through Berth 3.

during 2014/15, the Port of Esperance has continued to work with potential 
woodchip exporters to facilitate the export of the captured blue gum 
plantation trees in Esperance. The first trial shipment of woodchips is now 
scheduled to be undertaken in the first half of 2015/16.

A coal Proponent continues planning for the proposed development of 
Berth 14A at the Port of Bunbury for the export of up to 12 million tonnes 
per annum of coal and other compatible products. The Bunbury Port IhSP 
allows for the creation of two berths, 14A and 14B.

discussions continue with a Proponent for the export of up to 100,000 
tonnes per annum of mineral sand product through the Port of Bunbury.  
The Port Services Agreement with the Authority for the export project  
has been extended, to accommodate the commencement of the  
mine development. The new Proponent is expected to commence exports  
in 2015/16. 

In January 2012, the Authority’s Port of Esperance was selected to be the 
preferred gateway for the Yilgarn Iron Ore Province by the Minister for 
Transport. In November 2014, the WA government’s Multi User Iron Ore 
facility (MUIOf) Ports Public Private Steering Committee approved terms 
and conditions as negotiated between the MUIOf Project Team and the 
successful preferred Proponent. 

The Authority and its MUIOf Project Team monitored the price of iron  
ore during negotiations and considered the effect of rapidly declining iron 
ore prices on the viability of the project.

A strategy has been put in place to ensure valuable Port land remains 
available for alternative commercial purposes, while ensuring the  
MUIOf Project is given every opportunity to proceed. Negotiations with  
the Preferred Proponent are continuing.

Port of Esperance Iron Ore vessel on 
Berth 3
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hERITAgE

The Authority has accommodated the need for additional office space at the 
heritage listed Leschenault homestead in Bunbury WA. The homestead 
also provides for additional meeting rooms and a business continuity centre 
should the need arise. 

during the reporting year, the Authority met with members of the gnaala 
Karla Booja WC98/58 native title claim group to undertake ethnographic 
consultation in addition to three traditional owner workshops providing 
input into the design of the proposed Preston River realignment at Port  
of Bunbury.  

The purpose of the consultation was to explore the Aboriginal ethnographic 
values and sites of significance as defined under section 5 of the Aboriginal 
heritage Act that will be affected by the implementation of the development 
described in the IhSP. While the consultation process did not identify 
any new ethnographic sites of significance, some concern was raised as 
to the effects the Preston River Realignment could have on the spiritual 
and general health of persons within the Nyungar community. As a 
consequence, a number of recommendations came out of the consultation 
process including:

•  Nyungar representatives conduct a two day ceremony prior to the 
realignment of the Preston River;

•  The survey area be rehabilitated with native and salt tolerant plant 
species on completion of the project;

•  Plaques detailing the Aboriginal story and songline for the Preston River 
be installed within a community recreation area;

•  Monitors be present for the realignment of the Preston River and 
excavation process, particularly in the eastern area of the development.
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The Authority continues to work towards implementing new and improved 
infrastructure facilities to accommodate the increasing trade demands 
on the regional Ports. Capital projects are investigated and undertaken to 
improve existing facilities or develop new asset investments in the Ports.

Major and minor capital projects undertaken during the reporting  
period includes the following:

A large body of work and effort from the Authority’s Port of Albany 
Employees has continued to be applied to the extension of approvals for the 
Southdown Joint Venture (SdJV) magnetite project. At the time of writing, 
the State Minister for Environment through the Office of the Environmental 
Protection Authority has granted an extension of time to the initial approvals 
for a further five years. This allows the SdJV further opportunity to obtain 
commercial funding of the project. 

To improve the amount of space available to vehicles arriving and departing 
through the Port of Albany’s Security gate 2, the Authority designed 
modifications to the access and will be undertaking and completing the 
works early in the new financial year.

As outlined in the approved Bunbury Port IhSP, proactive planning of 
future berth expansion, appropriate laydown areas and infrastructure and 
the realignment of the Preston River is a pre-requisite to accommodate 
the planned expansion. The design works are being part funded by the 
department of Regional development under the Royalties for Regions 
scheme. Thorough consultation with Community and major Stakeholders  
is ongoing to develop the design, with a final design expected by late 2015.

Port of Bunbury Berths 3 & 5 Inner harbour 2015
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following completion of the Esperance Port Access Corridor Project in  
April 2014, hughes Road became the main entrance road for the heavy 
vehicles servicing the Port of Esperance. hughes Road was not originally 
designed for large volumes of heavy traffic and its usage has increased 
significantly since it became the only truck access into the Port. 

PERfORMANCE Port Development & Projects

In february 2015, in collaboration with the Bunbury Marine facilities 
Steering Committee, the Authority initiated the development of a plan  
to relocate Port trade from the Outer harbour. The proposed plan,  
once finalised and funded, will allow for the relocation of existing trade and 
free the Outer harbour for other community development opportunities. 

designing is underway for suitable access roads and service corridors 
to accommodate future Port of Bunbury lease holders, Berth 5 and the 
potential Berth 7 operations. Consultation and Risk Assessment with 
relevant Stakeholders will be carried out early in the design phase to  
ensure the most appropriate layout is achieved for future operations.

The Authority identified ongoing erosion to the west embankment of the 
Port of Bunbury’s Inner harbour and following consultation with relevant 
Stakeholders, completed a detailed design of a 230m rock revetment wall 
(Point Busaco revetment). A seawall Contractor was appointed to carry out 
these works in May 2015, with completion planned by August 2015.

Port of Bunbury Point Busaco Revetment Wall under construction
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In 2015, the Authority elected to undertake the upgrading of hughes Road 
as a staged development. Stage 1 works to be undertaken in 2015/16, 
comprises of upgrading a 250 metre section of the road and introducing 
traffic control measures to enhance the road’s safety. The historical  
Tommy Windich grave site area will also be provided with improved access 
for the general public.

Stage 2 works are complicated by the presence of gas and power lines 
within the road development corridor. These works are the subject of a 
more thorough design process and will be undertaken concurrently with the 
Stage 1 construction works. Construction of Stage 2 of the road upgrade is 
forecast for the 2016/17 financial year. 

Port of Esperance Lightweight aluminium scaffolding on the Berth 3 conveyor is 
encapsulated to capture blasting grit.

Ten of the 11 cruise vessels which visited the Port of Esperance during 
2014/15 remained at anchorage and conveyed passengers using small 
launches (tenders) to a temporary landing facility set up by the Authority. 
The facility which is located in a public area was dismantled and returned 
to the Port of Esperance after each cruise ship visit to prevent any 
unauthorised public access.

To reduce the ongoing operating costs to the Authority, work is now 
underway to install a low-cost, permanent landing facility within the 
Esperance Bay Yacht Club marina. The new landing is expected to be 
complete before the commencement of the 2015/16 cruise ship season  
in November 2015.

Mooring lines on the Port of Esperance’s Berth 3 have failed as a 
consequence of excessive surging ships.  The Authority continues to 
investigate options and aims to seek competitive prices for a solution  
in 2015/16.
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dIRECTORS

The following persons were directors of Southern Ports Authority during the 
financial year and up to the date of this report.

Roger hussey 
Appointed Chairman: 1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 June 2016.

Roger hussey was appointed Chairman of the Board of Southern Ports 
Authority in September 2014. he has degrees in Law (UWA), Master of 
Economics (Oxford) and International Business (Stanford). Roger’s career 
has focussed on business management and commercial activities. he was 
Chairman and Chief Executive of Century holdings group which he founded, 
and was also Chairman of a number of related ASX listed companies. Roger 
has also held positions as a Senior Project Consultant with international 
consulting firms, leading projects for government and private sector 
companies, involving business strategy, corporate development and major 
feasibility studies. Roger has also been appointed Board Member and 
Chairman of various government and community bodies, such as Princess 
Margaret Children’s hospital, PMh Child health Research Institute  
(now Telethon Kids Institute), and Bali Eye foundation.

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Corporate governance and Policy 
Committee; member of the Investment and Infrastructure Committee.

Neema Premji  
B.E. (Civil), grad. dip., MBA, fAICd, MIE (Aust)

Re-appointed Bunbury Port Authority Board Chairman:  
July 2012 - 30 September 2014.
Appointed Chairman of Albany Port Authority
November 2013 - 30 September 2014.
Appointed as Deputy Chair Southern Ports Authority:  
1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 March 2016.

Ms Premji was initially appointed to the Board of Bunbury Port Authority 
in 2002 and is currently deputy Chair of Southern Ports Authority. She 
administers her own Board consultancy business providing advice on 
matters related to boardroom strategic, corporate governance, asset and 
risk management and is a facilitator for the Australian Institute of Company 
directors (AICd). Ms Premji has previously served as a member on the 
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South West Regional Planning Committee, Edith Cowan University Board, 
Busselton Water Board and Bunbury Regional Art gallery Collections 
Committee and is actively interested in community concerns. Ms Premji is 
currently a member of AICd South West Regional Committee and federal 
director of the Australia-India Council Board.

Special responsibilities: Chair of Audit and Risk Committee; member of the 
Corporate governance and Policy Committee.

dr Phillip Chalmer B.Sc (hons.), Ph d

Appointed: 1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 March 2016. 

dr Phillip (Phil) Chalmer was appointed a director of Southern Ports 
Authority in September 2014, continuing from his role of director with the 
Esperance Port Authority prior to the amalgamation of the Port Authorities 
of Albany, Bunbury and Esperance.

dr Chalmer completed his honours and doctor of Philosophy at the 
University of WA in 1975 and 1979 respectively. following completion of his 
doctoral thesis on the ecology of marine fouling at the Stirling Naval Base 
in Cockburn Sound, dr Chalmer has gained considerable experience in the 
environmental industry as a marine environmental consultant.

Phil Chalmer was a director of LeProvost, Semeniuk and Chalmer, 
Environmental Consultants for approximately 10 years. his speciality 
expertise includes benthic flora and fauna surveys and specific 
assessments of marine outfalls, sub-marine pipelines, oil platform  
and harbour investigations. his Australian site experience includes the 
south-west coast around the Perth Metropolitan area, the North-West  
Shelf area from Exmouth gulf to Port hedland and the geraldton region.  
he has also undertaken assessments in the Timor Sea, Indonesia  
and Oman.

Special responsibilities: Chair of health, Safety and Environment Committee
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Peter Iancov MEng (Electrical), fIEAust, fAIM, fAIB, SMIEEE 

Appointed: 1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 September 2016.

Mr Iancov is a professional Engineer with broad executive expertise  
gained in major infrastructure assets including electricity, gas, renewable 
energy, mining, contracting and defence sectors with business  
partnerships forged across many Australian and international organisations. 
Mr Iancov has a strong interest in strategy, change management and 
delivery of major projects and programs. he is currently a director  
and strategy advisor to a number of organisations including government 
owned and private businesses.

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Investment and Infrastructure 
Committee.

Carolyn Porter B.Ed (honors)

Appointed: 1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 September 2015.

Ms Porter was a director of the now merged Albany Port Authority  
from October 2007 and prior to the Board appointment was a founding  
director/Partner of a Perth based Industrial Relations Consultancy.

Prior to establishing the consultancy, Ms Porter spent most of her  
career working in the oil, gas and maritime industries. She worked in  
both management and advisory roles in the areas of human resources,  
employee relations and industrial relations. She represented major 
employers and employer associations in these fields in negotiations, 
advocacy and strategic planning.

Since retiring from full time corporate involvement, Ms Porter is an active 
working partner in a beef cattle enterprise in the South West of the state.

Special responsibilities: Member of human Resources Committee;  
Member of health Safety and Environment Committee.
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Anthony Willinge LL.B (honours), LL.M (distinction)

Appointed to Bunbury Port Authority Board:  
January 2013 – 30 September 2014.
Appointed to Southern Ports Authority Board: 1 September 2014.
Expiry of present term: 30 September 2016.

Mr Willinge holds a Bachelor of Laws degree with honours from the 
University of Western Australia and a Masters of Law with distinction from 
London University.

he gained extensive experience in risk management and dispute resolution 
at the Crown (now State) Solicitor’s Office where he acted exclusively for  
the Western Australia government. he then joined Blake dawson Waldron, 
where he was a Partner and head of the firm’s commercial litigation division 
in Perth. As a Partner of Blake dawson he continued to act for government 
and a range of commercial clients.

Mr Willinge’s skills and experience include advising government and 
commercial parties on a range of risk management and corporate 
governance issues and acting for government and commercial parties in  
a range of contract and other disputes on major construction, mining  
and infrastructure projects.

Mr Willinge is a barrister at the Independent Bar at francis Burt Chambers, 
and an honorary fellow at the University of Western Australia.

Special responsibilities: Member of Audit and Risk Committee.
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gary Wood MAICd

Re-appointed to Bunbury Port Authority Board:  
July 2012 – 30 September 2014
Appointed to Southern Ports Authority Board: 1 September 2014
Expiry of present term: 30 September 2015

Mr Wood, former member of the Bunbury Port Authority Board, continues 
as a director of Southern Ports Authority bringing with him extensive 
experience in Industrial Relations and the fair Work Act 2009. he holds the 
long term position of Secretary to the CfMEU Mining and Energy division 
WA district and has a lengthy history of widespread involvement in the 
mining industry, with a particular focus on workplace safety. 

Mr Wood is currently a member of AICd and the Mining Industry Advisory 
Committee which is charged with the responsibility of implementing the 
National Occupational health and Safety Regime for the Western Australian 
Resource Sector based on practical risk management. Mr Wood’s interest in 
occupational health and safety in industry is supported by being a member 
of the Commission of Occupational Safety and health and a member of 
the Occupational health and Safety Working Party. The Working Party has 
extensive involvement in the introduction of guidelines and codes of practice 
in the mining industry since 1996.

Special responsibilities: Chair of the human Resources Committee

The following directors were appointed to the Bunbury Port Authority during 
the 2014/15 financial year, with their term expiring on 30 September 2014.



51SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Raffaele frisina (deputy Chair) fellow of CPA Australia, MAICd

Re-appointed to Bunbury Port Authority Board  
Deputy Chair: November 2011.
Expiry of term: 30 September 2014.

Mr frisina was appointed to the Board on 1 October 2009. he is a fellow 
of CPA Australia with many years experience in business consultancy, 
corporate governance and strategic planning. 

Mr frisina also served on numerous statutory and community Boards and 
Committees, including a term as a member of the South West Regional 
Planning Commission, Member of the City of Bunbury City Vision Taskforce, 
Board Member of the Val Lishman health Research foundation, Chairman 
of the Chefs Long Lunch Charity Committee and the Board of the Bunbury 
Regional Entertainment Centre. 

Special responsibilities: Bunbury Port Authority Board representative on  
the Port Community Liaison Committee, Bunbury Port Authority Member  
of Internal Audit and Risk Management Committee.

derek Brennan-Jesson dip Eng (Elec) UK, grad dip (Mgt) gAICd

Re-appointed to Bunbury Port Authority Board
Director: January 2014
Expiry of term: 30 September 2014.

Mr Jesson was originally appointed to the Bunbury Port Authority Board  
on 27 March 2006. he graduated from the London Regent Street Polytechnic 
in Electrical Engineering and migrated to Australia in 1970. Mr Jesson 
has been involved with several major engineering and construction 
companies gaining experience in a wide range of projects from feasibility to 
implementation including financial and site construction management.

following formal retirement in 2004 he has been involved with a number of 
community activities and various projects in the capacity of a Consultant.

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Bunbury Port Authority Internal 
Audit and Risk Committee; member of the Bunbury Port Authority Port 
Community Liaison Committee
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dIRECTOR MEETINgS 

The directors attended the following Board and Committee meetings during the financial year.  
The table below notes the number of meetings held and the number of attendances by the director  
at the respective meetings. 

Column A – indicates the number of meetings the director was eligible to attend, taking into account  
the amalgamation and the appointment of those directors as at 1 October 2014.

Column B – indicates the number of meetings attended.

Details of Director meeting attendance for Southern Ports Authority Directors  
(period 1 October 2014 to 30 June 2015):

Full Board Audit and Risk
Corporate and 

Governance

Health, 
Safety and 

Environment
Human 

Resources

Investment 
and 

Infrastructure

A B A B A B A B A B A B

Roger hussey 9 9 - - 1 1 - - - - 4 4

Neema Premji 9 8 7 7 1 1 - - - - - -

Phillip Chalmer 9 9 - - - - 4 4 - - - -

Peter Iancov 9 9 - - - - - - - - 4 4

Carolyn Porter 9 8 - - - - 4 4 3 3 - -

Anthony Willinge 9 9 7 6 - - - - - - - -

gary Wood 9 8 - - - - - - 3 3 - -

 
Details of Director meeting attendance for Bunbury Port Authority Directors  
(period 1 July 2014 to 30 September 2014):

Full Board

Internal Audit 
and Risk 

Management
Corporate and 

Governance
Human 

Relations

Port 
Community 

Liaison 
Committee

A B A B A B A B A B

Neema Premji 3 3 - - 0 0 - - - -

Raffaele frisina 3 2 1 0 - - - - 1 0

derek  
Brennan-Jesson 3 3 1 1 - - - - 1 1

Anthony Willinge 3 3 - - 0 0 1 1 - -

gary Wood 3 2 1 1 - - 1 1 1 1
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Southern Ports Authority during the year  
were to:

•  facilitate and promote trade in a safe and efficient manner;
•  provide port facilities and services as required for stevedoring, 

pilotage, towage, power supply and infrastructure maintenance;
•  undertake operations in an environmentally conscious manner; and
•  plan and co-ordinate for future port developments to meet the 

needs of current and potential new Customers.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the 
Southern Ports Authority during the year.

OVERVIEW Of OPERATIONS – PORT TRAdE  

The Southern Ports Authority consolidated trade performance for the 
financial year was a total of 31.33 million tonnes, with a total of 709 
commercial vessel visits.

The Ports’ trade in bulk and general cargo, and the main contributing 
commodities for 2014/15 were;

 Mtpa
 [0.00]

Alumina 10.70
Iron Ore 8.70
grain 4.59
Woodchips 2.58
Caustic Soda 1.40
Mineral Sands 0.80
Sulphur 0.28
fertiliser 0.22
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OVERVIEW – fINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit for 2014/15 before income tax was $32.655 million. The income tax 
expense attributable to the profit for the financial year was $9.324 million.

dIVIdENdS
dividends paid by the Southern Ports Authority during the financial  
year were:

2013/14 final dividend  $12.901 mil
2014/15 Interim dividend $12.091 mil

Refer to financial Note 11 regarding regulation amendments to dividend 
policy for Port Authorities.

STATE Of AffAIRS

In the opinion of the directors the amalgamation to form the Southern  
Ports Authority on 1 October 2014 is a significant change in the state of 
affairs for the reporting Authority which occurred during the financial year 
under review.

The amalgamation has created a Board of directors with responsibility for 
governing three Ports over a geographical distance of 700km. Trade and 
financial results now report consolidated figures representing three Ports 
and staffing numbers have increased to over 230 members. Ports currently 
operate under a hybrid of landlord and stevedoring system and an office  
has been created in Perth with a newly appointed CEO and Executive  
support team.
 

EVENTS SUBSEqUENT TO REPORTINg dATE

There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since  
30 June 2015 and the date of this report that, in the opinion of the directors, 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Southern Ports 
Authority’s operations, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs 
in future financial years.

LIKELY dEVELOPMENTS ANd EXPECTEd RESULTS

The Southern Ports Authority will continue to work closely with  
Customers and Stakeholders to fulfil its trade facilitation role and meet  
the needs of our current and future Customers.
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EMOLUMENTS

The Minister, as per the Port Authorities Act 1999, determines  
the remuneration and allowances paid to directors from the port  
authority funds.

The Board of directors, with the approval of the Minister and subject  
to the Salaries and Allowances Act 1975, determines the emolument 
package of the Chief Executive Officer. 

The Chief Executive Officer, in consultation with the human Resources 
Committee, determines the terms and conditions of employment,  
including remuneration packages, of other Senior Executives. 

The remuneration and other terms and conditions of employment for  
other Employees are delegated to the human Resources Committee and 
Chief Executive Officer, who ensures such terms and conditions are not less  
than the Industrial Relations Act 1979 or the Minimum Conditions of 
Employment Act 1993. 

The performance of the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Executives is 
monitored against agreed criteria.

In accordance with clause 13(c)(ii) of Schedule 5 of the Port Authorities  
Act 1999, the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration  
of each director of the Authority, and each of the three named officers  
who received the highest remuneration are reported below.

• director Emoluments 

Director Gross Superannuation Total

Roger hussey  $  66,718  $   6,338  $ 73,056 

Neema Premji  $  52,199  $   4,959  $ 57,158 

Phillip Chalmer  $  37,558  $   3,568  $ 41,126 

Peter Iancov  $  34,385  $   3,267  $ 37,651 

Carolyn Porter  $  37,558  $   3,568  $ 41,126 

Anthony Willinge  $  32,333  $   3,072  $ 35,405 

gary Wood  $  34,385  $   3,267  $ 37,651 

details of emoluments  
provided to Southern Ports  

Authority directors  
(period 1 October 2014  

to 30 June 2015):
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Director Gross Superannuation Total

Neema Premji  $  21,215  $   2,015  $ 23,230 

Raffaele frisina  $   6,250  $    594  $ 6,844 

derek Brennan-
Jesson  $   4,125  $    392  $ 4,517 

Anthony Willinge  $   4,125  $    392  $ 4,517 

gary Wood  $   4,125  $    392  $ 4,517 

• Reporting Board 
As per clause 13 of Schedule 8 of the Port Authorities Act 1999 reporting 
boards for the merging Port Authorities of Albany and Esperance were 
formed to finalise the financial accounts of these two authorities for the 
period 1 July to 30 September 2014.

Director Gross Superannuation Total

Russell harrison $6,699 $636 $7,335

Wynne Jones $4,421 $420 $4,841

Sally Malone $4,421 $420 $4,841

Robert McKinnon $12,058 $1,145 $13,204

Tim Shanahan $6,699 $636 $7,335

Kathy finlayson $4,421 $420 $4,841

Kim horne $4,421 $420 $4,841

• Executive Emoluments 
The three highest remunerated officers during 2014/15 by Southern Ports 
Authority are listed below. 

Note: due to the Ports amalgamation, the calculation for highest 
remuneration is based on a 12 month period for Employees located at the 
office in Bunbury and a nine month period for Employees located at offices 
in Albany, Esperance and West Perth.

Executive Salary
Super and  

other benefits Total*

R Liley  
Marine Manager/ 
harbour Master $267,622 $33,373 $300,995

K Schellack (CEO 
resigned 24/02/2015) $234,290 $32,110 $266,400

B granville $223,592 $34,764 $258,356

*  The total remuneration includes salaries, superannuation  
and non-monetary benefits.

details of emoluments  
provided to Bunbury Port  

Authority directors 
(period 1 July 2014  

to 30 September 2014):

details of emoluments  
provided to Albany Port  

Authority and Esperance Port 
Authority reporting directors  

(period 1 October 2014  
to 31 december 2014):
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ENVIRONMENTAL REgULATION

The Authority’s operations are subject to regulation under both 
Commonwealth and State environmental legislation applicable to any 
Australian commercial entity. Under the Ports Authorities Act 1999,  
the Authority is also required to “protect the environment of the port  
and minimise the impact of port activities on that environment”. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAgEMENT

The Southern Ports Authority is committed to operating an environmentally 
responsible organisation and this commitment is reflected in the values 
and corporate priorities of Southern Ports Authority by undertaking 
a number of environmental programs to meet Ministerial conditions 
associated with recent major projects including seagrass, water quality 
and sediment. Annual reports detailing findings and recommendations 
on these monitoring programs are submitted for review and approval by 
the department of Environment. further details on the Southern Ports 
Authority Environmental Management System are available within the 
Environment Report.

ROUNdINg Of AMOUNTS TO NEAREST  
ThOUSANd dOLLARS

Amounts have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars in the 
directors’ Report and financial Statements.

This report is made with a resolution of directors on 3 September 2015.

R Hussey
Chairman
West Perth, Western Australia

N Premji
deputy Chair
West Perth, Western Australia
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ROLE Of ThE BOARd

The Board consists of seven non-executive directors, including the 
Chairman, who are responsible for setting the strategic direction and 
establishing the corporate policies and procedures of the Authority.  
The Board is also accountable for planning approvals, monitoring the 
business activities and overseeing the financial performance of the 
Authority on behalf of the government.

The Board meets monthly and as required during the year,  
when extraordinary or special meetings may be called.  
One extraordinary meeting was called during the reporting period.

In accordance with Section 7 (1) of the Act, the directors are appointed by 
the Minister for Transport and report regularly to the Minister against the 
Authority’s five-year Strategic development Plan and key operational items. 
directors are appointed for periods of up to three years and are eligible for 
reappointment. The Minister for Transport appoints the Chairman and the 
deputy Chairman.

Southern Ports Authority Board of directors 
Left to right: Peter Iancov, Neema Premji, gary Wood, Carolyn Porter,  
Roger hussey (Chairman), Phillip Chalmer. Anthony Willinge absent from photo.

LEgISLATIVE fRAMEWORK 

Western Australian Port Authorities are administered under the  
Port Authorities Act 1999 and operate as corporatised entities with  
a Board of Management that reports to the Minister for Transport. 
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The Chief Executive Officer, who is accountable to the Board for the efficient 
performance of those duties described in the Act, is responsible for the 
ongoing management of Port activities at Albany, Bunbury and Esperance 
Ports and to ensure the objective and values set by the Board are carried 
out in a safe and efficient manner.
 
The Board is empowered by legislation to determine its own procedures  
and has established:

•  Standing Orders to encourage maximum participation by directors  
at meetings of the Board;

•  Appropriate levels of delegation to effectively manage the Authority’s 
business with clear lines of accountability consistent with the powers  
of delegation contained in the enabling legislation;

•  A Corporate governance and Policy Committee to ensure Board 
efficiency, quality in outcomes and continuous improvement in  
Board performance is achieved; 

•  An Audit and Risk Committee which oversees the internal audit program 
and risk management of the Authority’s operations and oversight of the 
SCI and SdP; 

•  A human Relations Committee which oversees the review of  
Employee awards and individual contracts as well as human resource 
management policies;

•  An Investment and Infrastructure Committee whose role is to  
assess and recommend to the Board new capital expenditure projects 
and commercial contracts and leases maintenance; and

•  A health, Safety and Environment Committee to ensure sound 
management controls are implemented over environmental  
and safety practices within the Authority. 

Each Committee has a responsibility to the role of risk management 
through the ongoing review of assigned risk registers. high and Extreme 
risks are reported to the Board through the Audit and Risk Committee.

In addition and as legislated in the Act, Community Consultative 
Committees were established at each Port and governed by the Board 
through the means of a Charter. The role of the Community Consultative 
Committee is to promote the flow of information and communication with 
the general public and to provide a forum in which feedback from the 
Community can be received by the Authority via the Committee members. 
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An independent Chairman is appointed to each Committee by the Board 
and directors may attend meetings from time to time. The Minutes of the 
Committee meetings are available on the Authority’s website.

INdEPENdENT PROfESSIONAL AdVICE

The Authority will permit any director to seek external professional advice 
as considered necessary in the performance of their responsibility as a 
director, at the Authority’s expense, with the approval of the Chairman.

CONfLICT Of INTEREST

directors make declarations of items of personal interest at the 
commencement of each Board meeting. In the event a potential conflict  
of interest may arise, involved directors may, at the discretion of the  
other directors;

a) withdraw from deliberations concerning the matter; and
b)  not be permitted to participate in any vote on the matter. directors are 

not permitted to exercise any influence over other Board members or  
to make improper use of information or their position.

EThICAL STANdARdS

The Board recognises the Authority’s corporate governance, safety, 
occupational health, environmental and ethical standards must be of a 
high standard. The Board therefore keeps these practices under review on 
an ongoing basis. All directors and Employees are required to meet high 
standards of ethical business practice and must abide by a code of conduct 
which is part of the Authority’s Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct.  
Refer Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes  
for further details regarding the Authority’s Code of Conduct and Code  
of Ethics.
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AUdIT ANd RISK COMMITTEE

The Board takes a proactive approach on matters that may be raised in 
relation to internal controls and procedures in regards to the following risk 
management categories:

• injuries, safety and health;
• financial loss and or asset damage;
• business interruption;
• reputation and image;
• environment; and
• compliance (corporate governance).

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) have met regularly during the year to 
develop the internal audit and risk management processes moving forward 
as an amalgamated Authority.

The role of the ARC is to ensure on behalf of the Board:

•  The internal audit function is operating effectively, independently  
and in accordance with the Standards for the Professional Practice  
of Internal Auditing;

•  Adequate attention is paid to the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
Authority’s operations;

•  There are appropriate internal controls in place;

•  Recommendations and concerns of the external Auditor are 
implemented in a timely manner;

•  The Authority’s risk appetite is defined and clearly articulated;

•  Systems are to be in place to ensure the full range of actual or potential 
risk exposures which are material to the Authority are identified and are 
considered by Management, the Board and relevant Board Committees 
as appropriate;

•  The Authority develops, implements and monitors effective risk 
management systems and mitigation strategies;

•  Extreme and high level risks are assessed and overseen by the Board; 
and

•  The Authority complies with all legal requirements.
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The ARC operates under a formal Charter. Two directors are appointed to 
the ARC, with one being appointed as the Committee Chair. Management 
is also represented on the ARC with the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
financial Officer attending regular meetings.

INTERNAL AUdIT

due to the amalgamation one internal audit was conducted during the 
financial year at the Port of Bunbury, however the ARC is working to 
implement an Internal Audit Plan to commence 2015/16 financial year.

EXTERNAL AUdIT

In compliance with the Ports Authorities Act 1999, Southern Ports 
Authority’s financial reports for the financial year have been audited by the 
Auditor general. The external audit was outsourced and KPMg appointed  
by the Office of the Auditor general.

RISK MANAgEMENT

following the amalgamation of the three southern Ports, a Risk 
Management framework is currently being drafted, for Board review  
and endorsement prior to implementation at the commencement of  
the 2015/16 financial year.

during 2014/15 the organisation’s risk management has been overseen  
by the Audit and Risk Committee.

fINANCIAL MANAgEMENT ACT 2006

Section 91 of the Act gives effect to Schedule 5 of the Act which contains 
provisions substantially based upon Corporations Law in relation to financial 
administration and audit. The provisions of the financial Management  
Act 2006 are limited to the application of the audit process only.
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The following are the disclosures required in accordance with legislation 
and government policies.

MINISTERIAL dIRECTIVES

The Minister may give directions in writing to the Board of directors with 
respect to the performance of the functions prescribed by legislation.  
There were no Ministerial directives during the year.

dISABILITY ACCESS

The Southern Ports Authority provides the following disability access:

•  physical access is provided to all administration buildings in Albany, 
Bunbury, Esperance and West Perth; and 

•  provision of amenities in the administration buildings for people with 
disabilities in accordance with Australian Standards at the time of the 
respective building’s construction.

People with disabilities can obtain information regarding the  
Authority’s publications and services including the Annual Report on  
the Authority’s web site at www.southernports.com.au

COMPLIANCE WITh PUBLIC SECTOR STANdARdS  
ANd EThICAL COdES

Section 21 of the Act requires the Authority’s Board to prepare and issue 
a Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct in alignment with the Public Sector 
Commissioner guidelines. The Authority’s Board reviewed and approved the 
Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct in September 2014. The Codes apply to 
directors and Employees of the Authority, Contractors and their Employees 
and representatives, and visitors engaging in any Authority-related activity.

The Code of Ethics is a statement of the ethical principles, values and 
behaviours expected of the Board and Employees at the Authority and 
comprise personal integrity, relationships with others and accountability. 
The Code of Conduct has been developed to guide responsible and 
appropriate decision making and to communicate appropriate standards  
of behaviour. 

All directors and Employees are provided with a copy of the Code of Ethics 
and Code of Conduct.

gOVERNANCE Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct is promoted via the Authority’s 
intranet service at Albany, Bunbury and Esperance. 

The performance of Employees against the Code of Ethics and Code of 
Conduct is reported annually to the Minister in accordance with sections  
21 and 23 of the Act.

No incidents involving reportable misconduct or breaches of the  
Authority’s Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct were reported during  
the 2014/15 period.

SUBSTANTIVE EqUALITY

The Authority acknowledges the importance to support Employees 
balancing work and family responsibilities by providing, where possible, 
flexible hours, availability of purchased leave and parental leave.

The Authority’s Employee Assistance Program continues to provide 
confidential external support to staff and their families at Albany,  
Bunbury and Esperance.

Employee Equity Index and 
Representation Representation

Equity 
Index

Women 19.7% 58

People from Culturally  
diverse backgrounds 3.8% 95

Aboriginal Australians 3.2% 50

People with disabilities 3.2% 57

Youth (under 25) 6.0% -

Mature (over 45) 50.5% -

Women in Tier 2 Management 0.0% -

Women in Tier 3 Management 13.6% -

RECORdKEEPINg

In accordance with section 19 of the State Records Act 2000 the Authority  
is required to have a Recordkeeping Plan.

As per Part 3, division 4 of the State Records Act 2000, with the recent 
amalgamation to form the Southern Ports Authority, the Authority’s 
Recordkeeping Plan underwent a full review and the consolidated draft 
Recordkeeping Plan (RKP2015010) was submitted to the State Records 
Commission on 1 May 2015.
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The Recordkeeping Plan applies to all directors, Employees,  
Contractors and organisations performing outsourced services on behalf  
of the Authority.

A suitable centralised Electronic document Records Management System 
(EdRMS) is under assessment for future implementation. Until such time 
each site has access to an EdRMS which enables the capture of both 
physical and digital records by Employees.

Commencing 1 October 2014 a new Business Classification Scheme was 
rolled out as part of the amalgamation across Southern Ports Authority.  
The use of a singular Business Classification Scheme will assist in aligning 
the Authority’s records when a central EdRMS is implemented.

The Authority’s induction program addresses Employee roles and 
responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the Authority’s 
recordkeeping plan.  Training sessions are provided to new Employees  
with recordkeeping responsibilities.

All Employees are responsible for the creation and management of the 
Authority’s corporate records using the EdRMS and are provided with 
ongoing training and updated user guides.

help sheets and presentations are regularly distributed throughout the 
Authority through providing updated policies, procedures and recordkeeping 
management tools. Records Officers at each site are available to provide  
one-on-one training to Employees as required.

The Authority’s Recordkeeping Plan and subsequent procedures will 
continue to be reviewed to align processes in preparation for a centralised 
singular EdRMS.

EXPENdITURE ON AdVERTISINg, MARKET RESEARCh, 
POLLINg ANd dIRECT MAIL

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 the Authority 
provides the following details on expenditure with regards to advertising, 
market research, polling and direct mail activities during the 2014/15 year.
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1/10/2014-30/6/2015 1/7/2014-30/6/2015

Expenditure Category and Company Name
Port of Albany

Amount $

Port of 
Esperance
Amount $

Port of Bunbury
Amount $

Advertising Agencies

Mills Wilson $12,538.64

Reynolds graphics $7,905.00

South West Precision Print $543.64

Market Research Organisations

Mills Wilson $6,355.00

Polling Organisations

Nil

Direct Mail Organisations

Australia Post $3,047.78

Tenderlink $350.00 $1,200.00 $1,600.00

Media Advertising Organisations

Adcorp $8,566.00 $10,195.34

Albany Advertiser $3,397.00

Albany and great Southern Weekender $2,922.00

Austereo/Radiowest $2,120.00

Esperance Express $2,175.22

Informa Australia $1,120.00

Rural Press $114.55

Seek $1,170.00

West Australian $634.18 $1,778.36

TOTAL $15,235.00 $27,277.52 $25,220.19
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fREEdOM Of INfORMATION 

Under the provision of section 96 of the freedom of Information Act 1992, 
the Authority is required to publish an Information Statement on an  
annual basis.

The Authority received one freedom of Information application during the 
2014/15 financial year.

OCCUPATIONAL SAfETY, hEALTh ANd INJURY 
MANAgEMENT

The Authority is committed to continual improvement and prevention 
of injury and damage; compliance with applicable legal requirements; 
the provision of a framework for setting and reviewing health and safety 
objectives and targets; ensuring the policy is implemented and maintained; 
ensure the safety and health principles are communicated effectively  
to all Employees, and ensuring the health and Safety Policy is available to 
interested third parties.

The health and Safety Policy was reviewed and endorsed by the Board in 
September 2014. The Policy sets the strategies the Authority will follow  
to achieve its health and safety commitments.

A detailed report on health and safety is provided under human Resources.
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STATEMENT Of COMPREhENSIVE INCOME  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Income

Revenue 4  110,863  35,160 

Other income 5  11,292  7,602 

Expenditure

depreciation expense 6 (9,720) (3,802)

Marine expenses (4,039) (2,290)

Port operations expenses (20,938) (2,212)

general administration (15,905) (5,954)

Asset maintenance (23,121) (5,942)

Environmental expenses (1,999) (1,277)

Port utilities (8,434) (3,330)

Security and safety (1,911) (1,053)

finance costs 8 (3,293) (337)

Other expenses 9 (140) (39)

Profit before income tax  32,655 16,526

Income tax expense 10 (9,324) (4,844)

Profit for the year  23,331  11,682 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss  -   -  

Items that may be reclassifed subsequently to profit and loss  -   -  

defined benefit plan actuarial gain/(losses)  106 (18)

Tax on items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss (32) 5

Total comprehensive income for the year  23,405 11,669

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 

fINANCIALS Financial Statements
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Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12(i)  47,119 14,726 

Other financial assets 12(ii)  24,685 31,414 

Trade and other receivables 13  22,413 5,871 

Inventories 14  2,713 389 

Total Current Assets  96,930 52,400 

Non-Current Assets

deferred tax assets 10  493 4,512 

Property, plant and equipment 15  144,540 68,446 

Trade and other receivables 13  20,495  -  

Inventories 14  2,531  -  

Total Non-Current Assets  168,059 72,958 

TOTAL ASSETS  264,989 125,358 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 16  8,266 2,018 

Interest bearing borrowings 17  7,892 591 

Current tax liabilities 10  4,333 1,476 

Provisions 18  6,626 926 

Total Current Liabilities  27,117 5,011 

Non-Current Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 17  41,607 5,805 

deferred grant income  -   1,344 

Provisions 18 1,587 333 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  43,194 7,482 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  70,311 12,493 

NET ASSETS   194,678  112,865 

Table continued on next page >

fINANCIALS Financial Statements
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< Table continued from previous page

Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

EQUITY

Reserves 19  14,815 14,815 

Contributed Equity  84,700 1,300 

Retained earnings  95,163 96,750 

TOTAL EQUITY  194,678 112,865 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT Of ChANgES IN EqUITY  
As at 30 June 2015

Note RESERVES
CONTRIBUTED 

EQUITY
RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL 
EQUITY

Balance at 1 July 2013  14,815  -    92,114  106,929 

Profit for the period  -    -    11,682  11,682 

Other comprehensive income  -    -   (13) (13)

Transactions with owners in their capacity:

Equity injection -  1,300 - 1,300

dividends paid 11  -    -   (7,033) (7,033)

Balance at 30 June 2014 14,815 1,300 96,750 112,865

Balance at 1 July 2014  14,815  1,300  96,750  112,865 

Profit for the period  -    -    23,331  23,331 

Other comprehensive income  -    -    74  74 

Transactions with owners in their capacity: 

Amalgamation - Albany Port Authority 24  -    45,113  -    45,113 

Amalgamation - Esperance Port Authority 24  -    36,806  -    36,806 

Equity injection  -    1,481  -    1,481 

dividends paid 11  -    -   (24,992) (24,992)

Balance at 30 June 2015  14,815  84,700  95,163  194,678 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT Of CASh fLOWS  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 123,849 40,264

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (81,088) (21,788)

Cash generated from operations 42,761 18,476

Interest paid (3,290) (337)

Income taxes (paid) (6,354) (4,999)

Net cash from operating activities 20  33,117 13,140

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 2,759 1,792

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 152 383

Payment received from finance lease 4,137  -   

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,902) (2,463)

fixed deposits 12,615 (925)

Net cash used in investing activities  14,761 (1,213)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (16,058) (587)

dividends paid (24,992) (7,033)

government grant  -   1,500

Cash contribution from government 1,481 1,300

Net cash used in financing activities (39,569) (4,820)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  8,309 7,107

Cash transferred in 24  24,084  -  

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  14,726 7,619

Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 20  47,119 14,726

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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fINANCIALS Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTE 1:

Basis of Preparation

(a) Statement of compliance 

The Southern Ports Authority (“The Authority”) was formed on 1 October 2014 in accordance with the  
Ports Legislation Amendments Act 2013, after the Bunbury Port Authority was renamed as the Southern  
Ports Authority, and the Albany Port Authority and Esperance Port Authority (being the ‘merging Authorities’) 
merged into the Southern Ports Authority.

Comparative balances reported relating to the year ended 30 June 2014 relate to Bunbury Port Authority only. 

Balances reported relating to Southern Ports Authority for the year ended 30 June 2015 relate to the balances 
formerly known as Bunbury Port Authority for the full 12 months ended 30 June 2015, in addition to Esperance 
Port Authority and Albany Port Authority balances for the 9 months ended 30 June 2015.

Southern Ports Authority (“The Authority”) is a not-for-profit entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the financial reporting provisions of the Port Authorities Act 1999, except as 
disclosed in note 1(b).

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 3 September 2015 by the Board of directors  
of the Authority.

(b) Presentation of the statement of comprehensive income 

Expenses have been classified by nature and this is considered to provide more relevant and reliable 
information than classification by function due to the nature of the Authority’s operations.

According to AASB 101 Presentation of financial Statements, expenses classified by nature are not reallocated 
among various functions within the entity. however, the Authority has allocated employee benefit expenses 
to various line items on the statement of comprehensive income including marine expenses, port operations 
expenses, general administration, environmental expenses, safety and security expenses and asset 
maintenance. This allocation reflects the internal reporting structure of the Authority which allocates labour 
expenses to significant expense items in the statement of comprehensive income based on the nature of the 
expenses incurred.

The Authority believes that the allocation is more relevant to the understanding of the financial performance  
of the Authority.

The directors have concluded that the financial statements present fairly the Authority’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows and that it has complied with applicable standards.

(c) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical  
cost convention.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated.
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(e) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment within the next financial year are included within the following note:

Note 18 (d) – Defined benefit plan

Various actuarial assumptions are required when determining the Authority’s superannuation obligations. 
These assumptions and the related carrying amounts are discussed in note 18(d).

Operating lease commitments – as lessor 

The Authority has entered into commercial property leases on some of its buildings and land and has 
determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these buildings and land and 
has thus classified the leases as operating leases.

Provision for remediation

Various assumptions are required in determining the Authority’s remediation obligations, including the extent 
of remediation to be undertaken in relation to dismantling and removing assets no longer deemed fit for use.

NOTE 2:

Summary of significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements unless otherwise stated.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.

(a) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows:

(i) Rendering of services 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at 
the reporting date. Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to 
the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

(ii) Interest 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues. 

(iii) Rental income 

Rental income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.
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(iv) Royalties for Regions grant income 

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Authority obtains 
control over the funds. The Authority obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Authority’s bank account.

(b) Finance income and expenses 

finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and interest receivable under finance leases. 
Interest income is recognises as it accrues.

finance expenses include interest expenses on borrowings and finance charges payable under finance leases.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(c) Income Tax 

The Authority operates within the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent amount in 
respect of income tax is payable to the department of Treasury (WA). The calculation of the liability in respect 
of income tax is governed by NTER guidelines and directions approved by government.

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority is required to comply with AASB 112  
Income Taxes.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

(i) Current Tax 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

(ii) deferred Tax 

deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The measurement of 
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Authority expects, at the 
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will re realised.

(d) Trade and lease receivables

Trade debtors are recognised and carried at the original invoice amounts less an allowance for any 
uncollectable amounts. debtors are generally settled within 30 days except for property rentals, which are 
governed by individual lease agreements.
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The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectable 
are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectable amounts (doubtful debts)  
is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debt.

A finance lease receivable is recognised for leases of property, plant and equipment which effectively transfers 
to the lessee substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to legal ownership of the leased asset.  
The lease receivable is initially recognised as the amount of the present value of the minimum lease payments 
receivable at the reporting date plus the present value of an unguaranteed residual value expected to accrue 
at the end of the lease term.

finance lease payments are allocated between interest revenue and reduction of the lease receivable over 
the term of the lease in order to reflect a constant periodic rate of return of the net investment outstanding 
in respect of the lease with interest revenue calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and 
recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(e) Inventories 

Inventories consist of stores which are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The cost of self 
constructed assets includes the following:

• Cost of materials and direct labour;

• Any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use;

•  When the Authority has an obligation to remove an asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs  
of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it was located; and 

• Capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as a part  
of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised within 
“other income” in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Authority and its cost can be measured reliably. Ongoing repairs and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred.

(iii) depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready for 
use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.
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depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less the estimated residual 
value using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. depreciation is generally recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income, unless the amount is included in the carrying amount of another asset. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Authority will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of each class of depreciable asset are as follows:

Buildings and improvements  4 – 50 years 

Breakwaters  22 – 50 years 

Inner and outer harbour channels and basins  20 – 100 years 

Navigational aids  10 years 

Berths and jetties  10 – 40 years 

Port infrastructure, plant and equipment  3 – 40 years 

Minor plant and equipment  2 – 20 years 

Office furniture and equipment  2 – 15 years 

Motor vehicles 4 – 10 years 

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

(iv) Impairment 

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are tested for any indication of impairment at each reporting 
date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is written down to the recoverable amount and an 
impairment loss is recognised. As the Authority is a not for profit entity, unless an asset as been identified as 
a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated or where the replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of asset is reviewed annually to 
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the 
asset’s future economic benefit and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each balance date irrespective of 
whether there is any indication of impairment.

All impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss is 
reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

(g) Leases  

(i) Leased assets 

Assets held by the Authority under leases which transfer to the Authority substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured 
at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
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Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to that asset.

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the statement of 
financial position.

(ii) Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of 
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease 
payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease 
when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

(iii) determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At the inception of an arrangement, the Authority determines whether such an arrangement contains a lease. 
This will be the case if the following two criteria are met:

• The fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and 

• The arrangement contains a right to use the asset or assets.

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Authority separates the payments and other 
consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on 
the basis of their relative fair values. If the Authority concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 
separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair 
value of the underlying asset.

(h) Non derivative financial instruments 

In addition to cash, the Authority has three categories of non derivative finance instruments:

• Loans and receivables;

• held to maturity investments; and 

• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Refer to note 21 for further information on the classification of financial instruments.

Initial recognition and measurement is at fair value. The transaction cost or face value is equivalent to the  
fair value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because  
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting  
is not material.

The value of the provision for impairment loss is assessed using an analysis of historical data to determine  
the level of risk and subsequent recovery of debts based on the age of the amounts outstanding.  
Bad debts are written off when formally recognised as being irrecoverable.

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses.
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(i) Payables 

Payables, including trade creditors, amounts payable and accrued expenses, are recognised for amounts 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received prior to the reporting date. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.

(ii) Borrowings 

All borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received less  
directly attributable transactions costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are 
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

Borrowing costs are expenses as incurred unless the relate to qualifying assets.

(i)  Employee benefits

The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the balance date 
is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expensed to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
Annual and long service leave expected to be settled 12 months after the balance date is measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect  
of services provided by employees up to the balance date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long 
service leave liability also considers the history of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the balance date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance date

Associated payroll on-costs are included in the determination of other provisions.

(j) Employee superannuation 

The gold State Superannuation Scheme (gSSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme, and the Superannuation 
and family Benefits Act Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme, are now closed to new members.  
The Authority is liable for superannuation benefits for past years’ service for members for the Superannuation 
and family Benefits Act Scheme who elected to transfer to the gSS Scheme. The Authority also accrues 
for superannuation benefits to the pension scheme for those members who elected not to transfer from 
that scheme. Monthly contributions are also made to SERf to satisfy existing workforce requirements for 
waterside employees who transferred to the Authority during 1992 and for casual staff.

The superannuation liability for existing employees with the pre-transfer service incurred under the 
Superannuation and family Benefits Act Scheme who transferred to the gSS Scheme is provided for at 
reporting date. The Authority’s total superannuation liability has been actuarially assessed as at 30 June 2015.

Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the gSS Schemes became non contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation fund until 15 April 2007.  
from 16 April 2007, employees who are not members of the Pension, gSS or WSS Schemes become  
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non-contributory members of the gESB Superannuation Scheme (gESB Super), a taxed accumulation fund. 
The Authority makes concurrent contributions to the government Employee Superannuation Board (gESB) 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth government’s Superannuation guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect  
of the WSS and gESB Super Schemes.

defined benefit plan

The Authority’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is calculated separately be 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan 
assets is deducted. These benefits are unfunded.

The discount rate used is the market yield rate at the balance date on national government bonds that have 
maturity date approximating to the terms of the Authority’s obligations. The calculation is performed by a 
qualified actuary using the actuarial cost method.

The superannuation expense of the defined benefit plan is made of up of the following elements:

• current service cost;

• interest cost (unwinding of the discount);

• actuarial gains and losses; and 

• past service cost.

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan are recognised immediately in other comprehensive 
income in the statement of other comprehensive income.

The superannuation expense of the defined contribution plan is recognised as and when the contributions  
fall due.

(k)  Dividends 

dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

(l)  Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past even, the Authority has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as  
a finance cost.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and 
at call deposits with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in their fair value, and are used by the Authority in the management of its short 
term commitments.

for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above.
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(n)  Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (gST), except 
where the amount of gST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these 
circumstances, the gST is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of gST included. The net amount of gST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The gST components of cash flows 
arising from the investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(o)  Comparative figures 

Comparative figures as at year ended, 30 June 2014 relate to the former Bunbury Port Authority only,  
they exclude Albany Port Authority and Esperance Port Authority balances as noted at Note 1(a).

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes  
in presentation for the current financial year.

When the Authority has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made a retrospective restatement or 
reclassified items in its financial statements, an additional statement of financial position at the beginning  
of the earliest comparative period will be disclosed.

(p) Rounding 

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounding to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).

(q) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Authority has not applied early in any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been 
issued that may impact the Authority. Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date.

AASB 9 financial Instruments (december 2010) and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017).

These standards will be applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the classification  
and measurement of financial instruments and revised recognition and derecognition requirements for 
financial instruments.

The key changes made to accounting requirements include:

•  simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried  
at fair value;

• simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives;

• removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets;

•  removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried  
at cost;
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•  allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. dividends in respect of these 
instruments that are a return on investments can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment 
or recycling on disposal of the instrument;

•  requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model as they 
are initially classified based on; (a) the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows; and 

•  requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the 
change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in the other comprehensive income, 
except then that would create an accounting mismatch. If such a mismatch would be created or enlarged 
the entity is required to present all changes in fair value (including the effects of changes in credit risk of 
the liability) in profit or loss.

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on  
or after 1 January 2017)

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to revenue with a 
single, principles-based model. Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue 
model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between 
entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers.

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to  
be entitled in exchange for the goods or services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following 
five-step process:

- identify the contract(s) with a customer;

- identify the performance obligations in the contract(s);

- determine the transaction price;

- allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract(s); and 

- recognise revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied.

This standard will require retrospective restatement, as well as enhanced disclosures regarding revenue.

Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Authority’s financial 
statements, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.

NOTE 3:

Expenses by nature 

Operating expenses are presented on the face of the income statement using a classification based on the  
nature of expenses (see note 1(b)). Marine expenses include those expenses derived from water-based activities,  
port operations expenses include those expenses related to land-based support activities, whilst general 
administration expenses include expenditure of an administrative nature.
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NOTE 4: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Revenue

Revenue consists of the following items:

Rendering of services

Charges on ships  32,988  14,876 

Charges on cargo  34,134  9,775 

Shipping services  4,651  2,443 

Port services  26,753  -  

Interest revenue  2,352  1,746 

Rentals and leases  9,985  6,320 

Total revenue  110,863  35,160 

NOTE 5: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Other income

Other income consists of the following items:

Net gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment (33)  221 

Sale of electricity and water  6,421  5,567 

Other  3,559  1,637 

grant funding  1,345  177 

Total other income  11,292  7,602 

NOTE 6: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Depreciation expense

Channels, dredging, breakwaters and navigation aids  1,827  966 

Buildings and improvements  3,365  694 

Plant and equipment  2,021  485 

Berths, jetties and infrastructure  2,507  1,657 

Total depreciation  9,720  3,802 
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NOTE 7: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Employee benefits expense

Employee benefits

Wages and salaries  19,632  4,609 

Superannuation  1,877  424 

Increase/(decrease) in:

Accrued wages  434  37 

Accumulated days off  36  -  

Annual leave  104  129 

Long service leave  590  87 

Personal leave  212  -  

Total employee benefits  22,885  5,286 

NOTE 8: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Finance costs

Interest paid  3,293  337 

Finance costs  3,293  337 

NOTE 9: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Other expenses

Employee on-costs movement  140  39 

Total other expenses  140  39 
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NOTE 10: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Income tax expense

Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Current tax expense

Current income tax expense  10,296  5,359 

Adjustment for prior periods (150) (69)

 10,146  5,290 

Deferred tax (income)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (877) (460)

Adjustments for prior periods  55  14 

(822) (446)

Total income tax expense  9,324  4,844 

Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income 

deferred tax expenses recognised in other comprehensive income  32   (5) 

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit

Profit for the period  23,331  11,682 

Total income tax expense  9,324  4,844 

Profit excluding income tax  32,655  16,526 

Income tax using the statutory tax rate of 30% (2014:30%)  9,797  4,958 

Tax incentive  -    3 

Non-deductible expenses (378) (62)

 9,419  4,899 

Under (over) provision in prior years (95) (55)

Income tax expense  9,324  4,844 
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Deferred income tax Statement of  
Financial Position

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (4,104) (3,301) (36) 131

Current finance lease receivable (7,900)  -   1,241  -  

future dredging (663)  -   15  -  

Others (1,010) (128) (131) (175)

(13,677) (3,429)

Deferred tax assets

Employee benefits  2,450  390 224 (138)

Accelerated depreciation for accounting purposes  8,297  7,045 (365) (235)

Project pool expenditure  2,640 - 113 -

Other  783  506 (239) (34)

gross deferred tax assets  14,170  7,941 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant  
to set-off provisions (13,677) (3,429)

Net deferred tax assets  493  4,512 

deferred tax income 822 (451)

 
Current tax liabilities

The current tax liability of $4.333 million (2014: $1.476 million) represents the amount of income tax payable  
in respect of current and prior financial periods.
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NOTE 11: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Dividends

final dividends paid in the financial year (i)  12,901  7,033 

Interim dividends paid in the financial year (ii)  12,091  -  

 24,992  7,033 

 
In accordance with government financial Policy, WA Ports are required to pay dividends of 65% (2014:65%)  
of after tax profits. 

(i)   A dividend of $3.108 million (Port of Albany), $7.584 million (Port of Bunbury) and $2.209 million (Port of 
Esperance) in respect of the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2014 was paid during the year ended 
30 June 2015. The 2014 final dividend relates to the financial performance of each individual Authority (Albany, 
Bunbury and Esperance) as it relates to the financial year preceding amalgamation.  

(ii)   The Ports Legislation Amendment Act 2014 amended Section 84 of the Port Authorities Act 1999 to include 
payment of interim dividends effective from 2014/15 financial year. The interim dividend is representative  
of 75% of the estimated full year dividend and is to be declared and paid before 30 June. In accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the balance of the final dividend payable relating to the financial results  
for the year ended 30 June 2015 have not been provided as they are expected to be declared by government 
after balance date.

NOTE 12: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances  35,378  14,726 

Cash deposits  11,741  -  

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows  47,119  14,726 

(ii) Other financial assets

fixed deposits  24,685  31,414 

 24,685  31,414 
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NOTE 13: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Trade and other receivables

Current

Receivables  15,551  5,699 

Less: allowance for impairment of receivables  -   (419)

 15,551  5,280 

Other debtors

Accrued revenue (accrued interest receivable)  631  486 

finance lease receivable  5,838  -  

Prepayments  393  105 

 22,413  5,871 

Non current 

finance lease receivable  20,495  -  

 20,495  -  

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of year  419  7 

Impairment recognised in the income statement  401  412 

Bad debts written off against provision (820)  -   

Balance at the end of year  -    419 

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have 
otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade debtors past due but not impaired is as follows:

Gross  
2015

Gross  
2014

Not more than 3 months  2,786  744 

More than 3 months but less than 6 months  17  319 

More than 6 months but less than 1 year  118  -   

More than 1 year  -    -   

 2,921  1,063 

As at 30 June 2015, trade receivables were impaired by $0.401 million (2014: $0.419 million) as Management 
decided that the debt was irrecoverable.
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NOTE 14: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Inventories

Current

Material stores, spares for maintenance - at cost  2,713  389 

 2,713 389

Non current 

Material stores, spares for maintenance - at cost  2,531  -  

 2,531  -  

 5,244 389



89SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

FINANCIALS Notes to the Financial Statements

89

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

N
O

TE
 1

5:
   

 P
ro

pe
rt

y,
 P

la
nt

 a
nd

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

C
ha

nn
el

s,
 

br
ea

k
w

at
er

s,
 

dr
ed

gi
ng

 a
nd

 
na

vi
ga

ti
on

 a
id

s
L

an
d

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

P
la

nt
 a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t

B
er

th
s,

 
je

tt
ie

s 
an

d 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

W
or

k 
in

 P
ro

gr
es

s
To

ta
l

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

20
15

  
$

’0
00

20
14

  
$

’0
00

A
t c

os
t

55
,4

75
55

,4
66

18
,4

12
 1

8,
41

2 
16

,6
86

16
,6

69
3,

74
8

 3
,3

68
 

49
,5

47
49

,1
45

1,
18

1
1,

28
0

 1
45

,0
49

 
14

4,
34

0

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
(4

0,
88

7)
(3

9,
92

1)
 -

   
 -

   
(1

0,
19

2)
(9

,4
98

)
(2

,0
87

)
(1

,8
35

)
(2

3,
43

8)
(2

2,
83

0)
 -

   
 -

   
(7

6,
60

4)
(7

4,
08

4)

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

14
,5

88
15

,5
45

18
,4

12
 1

8,
41

2 
6,

49
4

7,
17

1
1,

66
1

1,
53

3
26

,1
09

26
,3

15
1,

18
1

1,
28

0
 6

8,
44

5 
70

,2
56

A
dd

iti
on

s
6

9
1,

13
0

 -
   

27
5

17
2,

08
2

 6
48

 
89

63
9

2,
39

5
1,

15
1

5,
97

7
2,

46
4

W
ri

te
 o

ff
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
fr

om
 w

or
k 

in
 p

ro
gr

es
s

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

43
8

 -
   

21
7

 1
06

 
57

0
83

5
(1

,2
25

)
(9

41
)

 -
   

 -
   

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
fr

om
 A

m
al

ga
m

at
io

n-
  

A
t C

os
t

56
,7

77
 -

   
3,

83
3

 -
   

22
,7

01
 -

   
21

,7
05

 -
   

69
,6

07
 -

   
 7

53
 

 -
   

17
5,

37
6

 -
   

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
fr

om
 A

m
al

ga
m

at
io

n-
 

A
cc

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
(1

7,
55

0)
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
(1

0,
49

2)
 -

   
(1

0,
71

4)
 -

   
(5

6,
08

4)
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
(9

4,
84

0)
 -

   

d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
(1

,8
27

)
(9

66
)

 -
   

 -
   

(3
,3

65
)

(6
94

)
(2

,0
21

)
(4

85
)

(2
,5

07
)

(1
,6

57
)

 -
   

 -
   

(9
,7

20
)

(3
,8

02
)

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
 

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

d
is

po
sa

ls
 (a

)
 -

   
(1

)
(2

15
)

 -
   

(2
25

)
 -

   
(1

,0
79

)
(3

74
)

 -
   

(1
,0

71
)

 -
   

 -
   

(1
,5

19
)

(1
,4

46
)

A
cc

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
on

 d
is

po
sa

ls
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
22

5
 -

 
1,

02
0

23
3

 -
   

1,
04

9
 -

   
 -

   
1,

24
5

1,
28

2

Ex
pe

ns
ed

 to
 P

&
L

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
 

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

(4
24

)
(3

08
)

(4
24

)
(3

08
)

C
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 a
t 3

0 
Ju

ne
51

,9
94

14
,5

87
23

,1
60

18
,4

12
16

,0
51

6,
49

4
12

,8
71

1,
66

1
37

,7
84

26
,1

10
2,

68
0

1,
18

2
 1

44
,5

40
 

68
,4

46

C
lo

si
ng

 b
al

an
ce

 3
0 

Ju
ne

A
t c

os
t

11
2,

25
8

55
,4

74
23

,1
60

 1
8,

41
2 

39
,8

76
16

,6
86

26
,6

73
3,

74
8

11
9,

81
3

49
,5

48
2,

68
0

1,
18

2
 3

24
,4

60
 

14
5,

05
0

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

  
de

pr
ec

ia
tio

n
(6

0,
26

4)
(4

0,
88

7)
 -

   
 -

   
(2

3,
82

5)
(1

0,
19

2)
(1

3,
80

2)
(2

,0
87

)
(8

2,
02

9)
(2

3,
43

8)
 -

   
 -

   
(1

79
,9

20
)

(7
6,

60
4)

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

 -
   

-
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   
 -

   

51
,9

94
14

,5
87

23
,1

60
18

,4
12

16
,0

51
6,

49
4

12
,8

71
1,

66
1

37
,7

84
26

,1
10

2,
68

0
1,

18
2

 1
44

,5
40

 
68

,4
46

 D
is

cl
os

ur
e 

of
 fr

ee
ho

ld
 la

nd

(a
) L

ot
 9

73
 a

nd
 L

ot
 8

39
 w

er
e 

ve
st

ed
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

co
nt

ro
l o

f P
or

t o
f B

un
bu

ry
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt
 o

f p
as

t c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 a

nd
 g

ift
s 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t. 

d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
 th

e 
go

ve
rn

m
en

t r
et

oo
k 

co
nt

ro
l o

f L
ot

 9
73

. L
ot

 9
73

 h
ad

 a
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

va
lu

e 
of

 $
0.

16
0 

m
ill

io
n 

in
 th

e 
A

ut
ho

ri
ty

’s
 a

cc
ou

nt
s.

 A
s 

co
m

pe
ns

at
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
ex

ci
si

on
 

of
 L

ot
 9

73
, t

he
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f L

an
ds

 r
ec

la
ss

ifi
ed

 L
ot

 8
39

 a
s 

fr
ee

ho
ld

. L
ot

 8
39

 w
as

 b
ro

ug
ht

 in
to

 a
cc

ou
nt

 a
t f

ai
r 

va
lu

e 
($

1.
03

0 
m

ill
io

n 
ba

se
d 

on
 a

n 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t f
ai

r 
va

lu
e 

re
po

rt
), 

w
ith

 th
e 

cr
ed

it 
en

tr
y 

to
 r

ev
en

ue
.



90 SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2015

FINANCIALS Notes to the Financial Statements

90

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

NOTE 16: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Trade and other payables

Trade payables  4,933  876 

Other payables  958  85 

gST payable  431  237 

Accrued wages  1,322  112 

Unexpired income  622  708 

 8,266  2,018 

NOTE 17:

Interest bearing borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Authority’s interest bearing borrowings,  
which are measured at amortised cost. for more information about the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk, 
see note 21(i).

2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Current liabilities

direct borrowings  -   591 

Special borrowings  7,892  -  

 7,892 591

Non-current liabilities

direct borrowings  -   5,805 

Special borrowings  41,607  -  

 41,607 5,805

Financing arrangements

The Authority has access to the following lines of credit:

Total facilities available:

direct borrowings  69,199  6,400 

 69,199  6,400 

facilities utilised at reporting date:

direct borrowings  49,499 6,396

 49,499 6,396

facilities not utilised at reporting date:

direct borrowings  19,700 4

 19,700 4
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Significant terms and conditions

direct borrowings $6.396 (2014: $6.396 million) relating to the former Bunbury Port Authority were paid out in 
full in July 2014. The Authority incurred Interest and Penalties totalling $0.307 million in respect to the early 
termination of these loans. Before the direct borrowings were paid out, they were repayable on fixed dates and 
interest rates varied between 2.77% and 6.91% (30 June 2014: 2.62% and 6.91%).

Special borrowings of $49.499 million (relate to the former Esperance Port Authority) from the WA Treasury 
Corporation’s Portfolio Lending Arrangements (PLA) and are financed at fixed rates of interest; therefore changes 
in interest rates will have no impact on the profitability of the Port Authority.

Interest rate risk exposure

The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk on the interest bearing borrowings and the effective weighted average 
interest rate at year end by maturity periods is set out in the following table:

1 year  
or less  
$’000

Over 
1 to 2 
years  
$’000

Over 
2 to 3 
years  
$’000

Over 
3 to 4 
years  
$’000

Over 
4 to 5 
years  
$’000

Over 5 
years  
$’000

Total 
$’000

2015

Interest bearing borrowings:

fixed interest rate borrowings  7,892  7,880  7,414  7,689  7,090  11,534  49,499 

Variable interest rate borrowings  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 7,892  7,880  7,414  7,689  7,090  11,534  49,499 

Weighted average interest rate:

fixed interest rate borrowings 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18%

2014

Interest bearing borrowings:

fixed interest rate borrowings  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Variable interest rate borrowings 591 598 605 613 624 3,365 6,396

591 598 605 613 624 3,365 6,396

Weighted average interest rate:

fixed interest rate borrowings  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Variable interest rate borrowings 4.80% 4.84% 4.88% 4.76% 4.60% 4.67% 4.76%
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NOTE 18: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Provisions 

Current

Employee benefits provision

Accumulated days off  248  11 

Annual leave (a)  2,206  413 

Long service leave (b)  2,167  319 

Superannuation (d)  572  40 

Time in lieu  5  5 

Sick Leave  994  -  

Other provisions   

Employment on-costs  388  138 

Removal of asbestos  46  -  

 6,626  926 

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b)  899  110 

Superannuation (d)  221  203 

Sick leave  389  -  

Employment on-costs  78  20 

 1,587  333 

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no  
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance 
date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur  
as follows:

Within 12 months of balance date  1,444  289 

More than 12 months after balance date  762  124 

 2,206  413 

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance 
date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur  
as follows:

Within 12 months of balance date  1,872  319 

More than 12 months after balance date  1,194  110 

 3,066  429 
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2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the 
payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation premiums 
and payroll tax. The provision is measured at the present value of expected 
future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the 
discount (finance cost), is included at note 9 "Other expenses".

(d)  defined benefit superannuation plans The following is a summary of the  
most recent financial position of the Pension Scheme related to the Authority 
calculated in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are:

Current service cost:

Interest cost  33 8

Actuarial (gain)/loss (106) 18

(73) 26

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are:

Present value of unfunded obligations  794 243

fair value of plan assets - -

 794 243

Reconciliation of movement in the present value of the unfunded  
obligations recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are:

Opening balance  937 257

Current service cost:

Interest cost  33 8

Actuarial losses  -  18

Actuarial gains (106) -

Benefits paid (70) (40)

Transferred defined benefit obligation -  -  

 794 243

NOTE 19: 

Nature and purpose of reserves

The asset revaluation reserve was used to record historic increments and decrements on the revaluation of  
non-current assets. The balance relates to valuation of land and plant and equipment. All land and plant and 
equipment previously revalued are now carried at deemed cost.
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NOTE 20:

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash flows is reconciled to the related items  
in the Statement of financial Position as follows:

2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 47,119 14,726

47,119 14,726

Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent to net cash flow  
provided by/(used in) operating activities

Profit after income tax equivalents 23,331 11,682

Adjustments for:

depreciation expense 9,720 3,802

Interest income (2,352) (1,746)

Interest expense 3,293 337

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 33 (221)

WIP written off 424 308

Royalty for Regions funding (1,345) (177)

Land Adjustments (821) -

Income tax expense 9,324 4,844

Operating profit before changes in working capital 41,607 18,829

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables 62 (711)

Inventories 181 (13)

(decrease)/increase in liabilities:

Trade and other payables 844 143

Provisions 374 183

gST liability (307) 45

42,761 18,476

Interest paid (3,290) (337)

Income taxes paid (6,354) (4,999)

Net cash from operating activities 33,117 13,140
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NOTE 21:

Financial Instruments

(i) Financial Risk Management Objective and Policies

The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets  
(term deposits), receivables, payables and interest-bearing borrowings. The Authority has limited exposure to 
financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Market risk   

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Authority does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  

The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its long-term debt 
obligations and cash and cash equivalents. The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western 
Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at fixed rates with varying maturities or at variable rates.  
The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. The Authority’s  
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited in the banks which earned variable interest rates.   

Other than detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table below, the Authority has limited exposure to 
interest rate risk because it has no borrowings other than WATC borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. 

The Authority’s policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable debt with the objective  
of achieving optimum returns whilst managing interest rate risk to avoid uncertainty and volatility in the  
market place. 

The Authority constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to  
potential renewals of existing positions and alternative financing structures.
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Sensitivity analysis - variable rate instruments   

At the balance date, if interest rates have moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables  
held constant, the effect would be as follows:

2015

Carrying 
Amount  

$’000

+0.5% 
Change 
Profit  
$’000

(0.25%)
Change 
Profit  
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 47,119 236 (12)

Financial liabilities

Variable interest-bearing borrowings  -    -    -   

47,119 236 (12)

2014

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14,726 74 (37)

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings (6,396) (32) 16

8,330 42 (21)

Credit risk    

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis 
and monitors risk on a regular basis. With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and term 
deposits, the Authority’s exposure to credit risk arises from the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to 
the carrying amount of these instruments. The cash and cash equivalents and term deposits are held with banks 
and financial institution counterparties, which are rated AA- to AA+, based on Standard & Poor’s ratings.  

The Authority operates predominantly within the shipping and cargo handling industry and accordingly is exposed 
to risks affecting that industry. The maximum exposure to creditor risk at balance  date in relation to each class of 
recognised financial asset is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, 
as shown in the table at note 21 (ii).    

The Authority follows stringent credit control and management procedures in reviewing and monitoring debtor 
accounts and outstanding balances as evidenced by the historical  aged debtors balances. In addition, management 
of receivable balances includes frequent monitoring thereby minimising the Authority’s exposure to bad debts.  
for financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 13 ‘Trade and other receivables’. 

The Authority’s credit risk management is further supported by rental agreements and sections 116 & 117 of the 
Port Authorities Act 1999. Section 116 refers to the liability to pay port charges in respect of vessels and section 117 
refers to the liability to pay port charges in respect of goods. Port charges are defined in section 115.   
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Liquidity risk    

The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use 
of cash reserves and its borrowing facilities. The Authority manages its exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring 
appropriate procedures are in place to manage cash flows, including monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.    

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are 
representative of the undiscounted amounts at the balance date. The table includes both interest and principal  
cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material.

Financial liabilities

Carrying 
amount  
$’000

6 months 
or less  
$’000

6-12 
months 
$’000

1-2  
years 
$’000

2-5 
years 
$’000

More 
than 5 
years 
$’000

2015

Trade and other payables  8,266  8,266  -    -    -    -   

Interest-bearing borrowings  49,499  5,335  5,435  10,261  26,508  13,427 

 57,765  13,601  5,435  10,261  26,508  13,427 

2014

Trade and other payables 2,018 1,811 207  -   -   -  

Interest-bearing borrowings 6,396 238 466 914 2,591 4,040

8,414 2,049 673 914 2,591 4,040

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows. 
Trade payables, and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used in the ongoing 
operations such as property, plant and equipment and investments in working capital eg inventories and trade 
receivables. These assets are considered in the Authority’s overall liquidity risk.    

Risk associated with the liability on borrowings is reduced by the Authority paying a guarantee charge.

This charge guarantees payment to the WATC by the government for outstanding borrowings in case of default. 
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(ii) Categories of financial instruments    

Set out below are the categories and fair values of the Authority’s financial instruments:

2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  47,119 14,726

Trade and other receivables  42,962 5,871

Other financial assets  24,685 31,414

 114,766 52,011

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (8,266) (2,018)

Interest-bearing borrowings (54,977) (6,924)

(63,243) (8,942)

 51,523 43,069

The fair value of the interest-bearing borrowings was provided by the WATC using a lending curve,  
based on the various maturing dates for each loan, less a margin.

NOTE 22: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Commitments

Operating leases receivable

future minimum rentals receivable for operating leases at reporting date:

Within 1 year  6,347 3,383

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  20,472 11,121

Later than 5 years  66,077 46,586

 92,896 61,090

Capital expenditure commitments 

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure  
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable  
as follows:

Within 1 year  732  -  

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  -    -  

Later than 5 years  -    -  

 732  -  
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NOTE 23: 2015  
$’000

2014  
$’000

Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration received, or due and receivable, by the Auditor general for:

Audit of the financial statements  116 40

 
NOTE 24:

Amalgamation

The State government announced on 2 february 2012 that the State’s seven regional port authorities would be 
consolidated into four regional port authorities with Albany and Esperance Port Authorities to amalgamate with 
Bunbury Port Authority and be renamed ‘Southern Ports Authority’ effective 1 October 2014.

The legislation enabling the merger of the ports, The Ports Legislation Amendment Act 2014, was given Royal 
Assent on 20 May 2014. The legislation was a result of a comprehensive review commissioned by the State 
government in 2010 to determine whether Western Australia’s ports could continue to respond to the demands  
of the State’s rapidly growing economy.

The net assets and liabilities of the former Albany and Esperance Port Authorities were accounted for as a 
contribution by the State government of Western Australia in its capacity as owner at their carrying values in equity. 
This is in accordance with the restructure of administrative arrangements under AASB 1004 Contributions.

Contributions from the owner, the State government of Western Australia, on 1 October 2014 comprised  
of the following:

Albany 
$’000

Esperance
$’000

Total
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents  7,786  16,298  24,084 

Other financial assets  8,761 -  8,761 

Trade and other receivables  974 40,942  41,916 

Inventories  328  5,034   5,362 

deferred tax assets  -    5,574  5,574 

Property, plant and equipment  32,063  48,474  80,537 

Total assets  49,912  116,322  166,234 

Table continued on next page >
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< Table continued from previous page

Albany 
$’000

Esperance
$’000

Total
$’000

Trade and other payables (1,210) (5,812) (7,022)

Interest bearing borrowings  -   (59,161) (59,161)

Current tax liabilities (1,029) - (1,029)

Provisions (2,035) (4,652) (6,687)

deferred tax liability (525) (9,891) (10,416)

Total liabilities (4,799) (79,516) (84,315)

Net assets at 1 October 2014  45,113  36,806  81,919 

NOTE 25:

RELATED PARTIES

Chairman 
R hussey 

Deputy Chair 
N Premji

Directors 

P Chalmer

P Iancov

A Willinge

g N Wood

C Porter

R frisina was deputy Chair until his term expired on 30 September 2014.

d Brennan-Jesson was a director until his term expired on 30 September 2014.

Related party transactions 

There are no transactions in the year with the directors or other related parties.
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NOTE 26

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent considerations 

Contaminated sites 

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is required to report known and suspected contaminated 
sites to the department of Environment Regulation (dER) Contaminated Sites Branch.

In accordance with the Act, dER classifies these sits on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and 
environment values. Where sites are classified as “contaminated – remediation required” or possibly “contaminated 
– investigation required”, the Authority may have a liability with respect to investigation or remediation expenses if 
the polluter cannot be identified or does not have the resources to undertake the investigation or remediation work.

Bunbury 

five lots within the Inner harbour Port Reserve, four of which were previously reported to the dER’s Contaminated 
Sites Branch, have now been identified as contaminated at the date of this report.

Three of the lots comprise of the land area previously occupied by a coal fired power station that was operated for 
approximately 40 years by Western Power. Verve Energy now continues to monitor this site. A potential development 
of Berth 14A for coal export would require removal of contaminated soils to an appropriate disposal site. The lots 
are suitable for “industrial uses”.

The fourth lot contains an area shared by Alcoa and South32 used for caustic soda storage and holders have 
undertaken monitoring activities as the caustic contamination has been caused by their combined activities.  
Both lessees are seeking to reduce the area that they lease but the Authority requires that the reduced lease  
area must include the existing groundwater monitoring wells.

The site bordering the Cristal lease Lot 962 Koombana drive has been classified as possibly contaminated - 
investigation required. A Mine Closure Plan was prepared by Cristal and the plan includes the future remediation  
of the area bordering the lease as the contamination is substantially as a result of decades of mineral sand 
processing and storage.

The recent site works associated with the construction of the Revetment Wall along the northern shoreline adjacent 
to the Cristal site has resulted in the removal and stockpiling of a substantial volume of contaminated material 
which the Port is negotiating with Cristal to have taken to a suitable off-site disposal location at Cristal’s cost.

Any future relocation of port operations from the Outer harbour will require the existing lease holders to remediate 
their lease areas so this should not impose any liability onto SPA.

At this stage, any future financial liability that may fall to the Authority to monitor or remediate contamination 
caused by the activities of the third parties referenced above, is uncertain.
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Albany 

Previously, the Authority was advised by the dER of the identification of one suspected contaminated site.  
A contract was awarded in May 2012 for preliminary site investigation. A report on the investigation was submitted 
to dER in May 2013 for review. dER has not yet determined that remediation is required or if any usage limitations 
will be placed on the land. Evidence has however indicated that the site is an affected site rather than a source site 
with the contamination migrating from another location. This determination will affect any potential financial effect 
on the Authority. Uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any associated outflows remain.

In September 2012, the Authority received a dER notice of another known or suspected contaminated site within 
the Authority’s jurisdiction. The notice identifies that further investigations are required to adequately delineate 
and characterise the nature and extent of the contamination. Investigations have not commenced and therefore any 
potential financial effect on the Authority, and the amount and timing of any outflows is unknown. Under the Act, 
investigations are not required to commence until a timeframe has been specified by the dER and the form of the 
investigation required to be undertaken has been described.

The Authority, being a government Trading Entity, is not eligible for support from the Contaminated Sites 
Management Account.

Esperance 

during the period the Authority did not report any suspected contaminated sites to dER.

Other contingent liabilities 

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there is the following contingent liability:

The Authority (Esperance) has a contract to load bulk nickel for BhP Billiton Nickel West. Since October 2011 this 
contract has been frustrated due to the bulk loader no longer being fit for purpose. The Authority is unable to obtain 
funding to make the bulk loader operational to continue with this trade as it is presently deemed to be unviable. 
BhP Billiton Nickel West has confirmed a temporary suspension of the current contract with a view to negotiating a 
new agreement utilising alternative methods. The likelihood of any legal action being taken by BhP Billiton Nickel 
West for a breach of contract is considered to be low and insufficient information is currently available to determine 
the financial impact.

NOTE 27 

Events after the Reporting Period

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report anytime,  
a transaction or event of material or unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Authority, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Authority, the result of those operations or the state of affairs of the Authority,  
in the future financial years.
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In the opinion of the directors of the Southern Ports Authority (the “Authority”):

(a)   the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the financial reporting  provisions of the  
Port Authorities Act 1999, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Southern Ports Authority as at  
30 June 2015 and of its performance, as represented by the results of its operations  
and its cash flows for the financial year ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Port Authorities Act 1999; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Southern Ports Authority will be able to pay its debts  
as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 3 September 2015.

R HUSSEY
Chairperson

N PREMJI
deputy Chair
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
SOUTHERN PORTS AUTHORITY 
 
I have audited the financial report of the Southern Ports Authority. The financial report comprises 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the Statement Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, Notes 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and 
the Directors’ Declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Southern Ports Authority are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Port Authorities Act 1999, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Port Authorities Act 1999, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Authority’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements. 
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Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial report of the Southern Ports Authority is in accordance with schedule 
5 of the Port Authorities Act 1999, including: 
 (a) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s  financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 

of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 (b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 

2001. 
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Report  
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Southern Ports Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2015 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is 
responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on 
the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from this financial report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of 
the audited financial report to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial report. 
 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
7 September 2015 
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Directors
R hussey - Chairman
N Premji - deputy Chair
P Chalmer
P Iancov
C Porter
A Willinge
g Wood

Chief Executive Officer
Nicolas fertin

Chief Financial Officer
Brian granville

Auditors
Office of the Auditor general, Western Australia

Internal Auditors
Protiviti Risk and Business Consulting

Southern Ports Authority - ABN 30 044 341 250



Street Address:
ground floor, 16 Parliament Place
West Perth WA 6005

Postal Address:
PO Box 1049
West Perth WA 6872

Telephone: 1800 787 033
Website: www.southernports.com.au
Email: enquiries@southernports.com.au

fEEdBACK

Your comments and suggestions on the content and style of the  
Southern Ports Authority Annual Report are important to ensure  
the Report continues to meet the requirements of our Stakeholders.  
Please submit your comments via the contact methods listed above.

CONTACT dETAILS

http://www.southernports.com.au
mailto:enquiries%40southernports.com.au?subject=


southernports.com.au

SOUThERN PORTS AUThORITY 
ground floor, 16 Parliament Place 
West Perth WA 6005

TELEPhONE 
1800 787 033

EMAIL 
enquiries@southernports.com.au

77977 acorndesign.com.au

http://www.southernports.com.au
mailto:enquiries%40southernports.com.au?subject=
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